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Thursday, June 27, 2019
--- On commencing at 9:34 a.m.

MS. ANDERSON:  Please be seated.  Okay.  I think that puts us on the air.  Good morning, everyone.

We are here today for the first day of the oral hearing for the OEB proceeding EB-2018-0165.  This is an application by Toronto Hydro seeking approval for rates to be effective January 1st, 2020 to December 31st, 2024.

My name is Lynne Anderson, and I am the presiding Board member for this proceeding, and with me today are my fellow Board members, Michael Janigan and Susan Frank.

We are transcribed today, and the transcript will be available on the OEB's website, and we are on the air for everyone that wants to listen remotely.
Procedural Matters:


One thing I wanted to say at the outset is, we are about to face a few hot days, and it seems not too bad a temperature in here right now, but when the sun comes shining in sometimes the transition to hot weather is the building doesn't quite react appropriately, so we will not be offended at all if people want to take off their dark jackets at some point, and I hope you will not be offended if we do the same.  We want everyone to be comfortable.

Staff has prepared a hearing plan, which was circulated yesterday afternoon.  And hopefully everyone has a copy of that.  You will see from that that -- and thank you for sending your time estimates in so we could prepare it -- that with your time estimates this hearing is set to continue until the 18th on the last panel, July the 18th, and that is with the estimate of sitting till 5:00 p.m. every day.  So it is not like there is a lot of give in that schedule.

We ask that everyone be mindful of the questions asked by the people that come before you, and to avoid any duplication.  With that avoided duplication perhaps we can actually finish the hearing a little earlier.  That would be our hope.

We also note, Toronto Hydro, you have scheduled direct examination, and we note that we did have an evidence overview presentation on May 3rd, and just want to say there is no need to duplicate information that you have shared with us in that presentation overview.  It is a transcribed event, so we have access to that, and we were there, so you don't need to duplicate that, and if that helps to improve on our time.

Can we have appearances for the record.  Mr. Keizer.

MR. KEIZER:  [microphone not activated]


That's my fault.  I didn't have the mic for him on.  There we go.

Appearances:


MR. KEIZER:  Let me start again.  Charles Keizer, counsel for Toronto Hydro, also put in an appearance for Mr. Arlen Sternberg, who will also be counsel on the matter relating to panel 3 and the expert panels.

MS. COBAN:  Good morning, Daliana Coban.  I am the manager of regulatory law, Toronto Hydro.  I will be sitting here throughout the entire proceeding as co-counsel with Mr. Keizer and Mr. Sternberg.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.

MR. BRETT:  Good morning, panel.  My name is Tom Brett, counsel for BOMA, Building Owners and Managers Association.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.

MR. QUINN:  Good morning, Madam Chair and Panel.  Dwayne Quinn on behalf of the Greater Toronto Apartment Association.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Mark Rubenstein, counsel for the School Energy Coalition.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  [microphone not activated] Mark Rubenstein, counsel for the School Energy Coalition.  I would like to put in an appearance for Mr. Jay Shepherd, who will be appearing on some of the -- for some of the expert panels.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.

MR. GARNER:  Mark Garner, appearing for the Vulnerable Consumers Energy (sic) Coalition, and I will put in an appearance also for Mr. Bill Harper, who will be appearing before you at some point.

MS. DeMARCO:  Lisa Demarco for the Distributed Resource Coalition.  I am here with Mr. McGillivray, Jonathan McGillivray, and we will alternatively be in and out of the hearing room.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.

MS. GIRVAN:  Julie Girvan on behalf of the Consumers Council of Canada.

MS. GRICE:  Shelley Grice for the Association of Major Power Consumers in Ontario.

MS. ANDERSON:  Shelley Grice?  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Good morning, it is Richard Stephenson.  I am counsel for the Power Workers' Union.

MR. HANN:  Good morning.  Norman Hann, representing the ratepayers.

MR. LADANYI:  Good morning, Tom Ladanyi, consultant to Energy Probe, and I am also putting in an appearance for Dr. Roger Higgin, who will be here for some other panels.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  Staff.  I guess -- did I get everyone from the intervenor group?  I think so, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, Madam Chair, members of the Panel.  Michael Millar, counsel for Board Staff.  To my right is Lawrie Gluck, who is the case manager for this application, and behind me many people in the room will know Lillian Ing, who has been with the Board for many years in this proceeding.  She is the hearing advisor, and she is helping us out with a lot of things, including the schedule.  So if people have questions or amendments to the schedule, try and speak with Lillian.

MS. ANDERSON:  And I would reinforce not try to speak, please do speak with her with any updates.  We will refresh the hearing plan as we go along.  I think that is important for people to know when they're scheduled, and you saw that you've got the two days' worth, and certainly you will get -- you will be getting that refreshed every day.

Okay.  Thank you for the appearances.

Mr. Keizer, we indicated at the evidence overview presentation that we planned to start the hearing on the confidentiality issues.  But before we do, there are just a couple of other preliminary matters that the Board had, that the Panel had.
Preliminary Matters:


One, first I note that Toronto Hydro filed something, I think it was on the 24th, called a Table of Concordance.  And first of all, I think that can be very helpful, and I wanted to commend Toronto Hydro for doing that.

But perhaps in the vein of no good deed goes unpunished, we would actually like it to be updated once the record is closed for this proceeding, if that is possible.

So I don't know if we can do an undertaking for that, but -- if you need to confer with your client, but we would like to have that table no later than the argument-in-chief.  I see nodding in the back.

MR. KEIZER:  That's fine, Madam Chair.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay, thank you.

The other thing that we noted and wanted to give you time to think about, if necessary, is throughout Appendix
-- sorry, Exhibit U, in particular your update, there were a number of references to the fact that things will be updated as part of the draft rate order process, and I think throughout the whole exhibit you will see there is numerous references, for instance working capital allowance, things like that.

There are some high-level tables in your evidence about what's being updated, but we would find it very helpful to find, I guess, a table of all of those things, all of those references, where you plan to update the revenue requirement for 2020, and in most cases you indicated an approximate value.

So we would find it very helpful to have a table that shows all of those things that will be updated in the 2020 revenue requirement.

MS. COBAN:  Of course, we can provide that.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  Thank you.  Mr. Millar, can we get two undertakings?  I think it is two separate undertakings.  I am happy if it is one, but --


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  That would be J1.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1:  TO PROVIDE AN UPDATED CONCORDANCE OF EVIDENCE AT THE TIME THE RECORD CLOSES.


MR. MILLAR:  J1.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.2:  TO PROVIDE A TABLE THAT SHOWS ALL OF THE PROPOSED CHANGES WHICH WILL BE INCLUDED IN THE 2020 REVENUE REQUIREMENT.

MS. ANDERSON:  Perfect.  Thank you.

Just before, again, we move into the issues of confidentiality, are there any other preliminary matters that we should be addressing before we move on?  Mr. Millar, did you have -- not aware of anything?  Nobody else is aware of anything?  Failing which, we shall --


MS. DeMARCO:  Madam Chair, I might just highlight that we filed a letter yesterday in relation to the expert panel being put forward by DRC asking for parties' indication as to whether or not they intend to challenge the qualifications of the expert, and we may be able to revise our timelines down quite significantly if there is no intention to qualify.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  Did people see the letter?  Do they need -- are there any objections to the -- sorry.  I forget her name.

MS. DeMARCO:  It is Dr. Josipa Petrunic.

MS. ANDERSON:  Petrunic, Dr. Petrunic.  Did anyone -- was any one planning to have objections to her being qualified as an expert?

MR. LADANYI:  Yes, I was planning to challenge her qualifications as an expert.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  So perhaps we will -- when would she be scheduled to ...

MS. DeMARCO:  I believe currently it is on July 18th.

MS. ANDERSON:  So perhaps we will schedule some time to do that.  Mr. Keizer, you were going to say something?

MR. KEIZER:  We had not yet concluded as to whether we would or wouldn't.

MS. ANDERSON:  You needed some time?

MR. KEIZER:  Yes.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  We will fit that in before she is scheduled to come.  Okay.

MR. KEIZER:  Madam Chair, if I may?  As Ms. Coban indicated, she will be assisting us in the hearing room throughout the matter.  And because of the volume of the record, Ms. Coban will be here to assist the Board in matters relating to the record, including issues of confidentiality and also anything arising from the undertakings, or the requests for undertakings.

So Ms. Coban will, as a result, be dealing with the preliminary matter relating to the confidential information.

We have, as part of panel 1, Mr. Jim Trgachef, who has knowledge about the issue relating to external contractors and the weighted average that was at question in the confidential material.

If it would please the Board, we would, you know, suggest that we could take him through a series of questions which would help clarify the issue for your purposes, or you yourself can ask him questions directly, whichever you would prefer.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  We do have some questions of our own, and perhaps we can just move into that and we will have to affirm the witnesses.

Just before we do, though, there was another matter of confidentiality, which was the request -- I think it was part of AMPCO 124 that certain CEA reports for 2017 -- I have it here -- 2017 and 2018 CEA reports.  We were going to set aside some time to see if there were any objections to those reports being made confidential.  Are there any objections?  Ms. Grice?

MS. GRICE:  Thank you.  AMPCO has reviewed the 2017 and 2018 CAE reports, and takes no issues with Toronto Hydro's request that they be treated confidentiality.  This is consistent with the Board's determination in the last case that similar CAE reports be treated confidentially.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  Anyone else wish to speak to this?  Seeing none, we will grant the request, they will be treated in confidence.

Let's move on to the other matter, which was the issue of internal versus external labour costs.  So let's get the witnesses.

Now, does Ms. Coban need to be affirmed if she is going to respond to our questions here?

MR. KEIZER:  Actually, she is not going to.  She, as counsel, would be prepared -- and maybe I'll let Ms. Coban can speak for herself, but be prepared to take Mr. Trgachef through a series of questions to clarify Toronto Hydro's positions with respect to it, and then obviously available for you to ask any questions that you may have in that regard.

I was thinking that maybe the most efficient thing to do would be to affirm the entire panel.

MS. ANDERSON:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  And then deal with that one particular preliminary matter, and then proceed to direct examination after that matter.

MS. ANDERSON:  That makes sense.

MR. KEIZER:  So if I may, I could introduce the panel to you and then we could ask them to be affirmed.

MS. ANDERSON:  I'm sorry, we were having a side bar.  Can you repeat that, please?

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, Madam Chair.  If I could introduce the panel to you and then ask for them to be affirmed, would that be ...

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  Please do it slowly for us, so I can get the right order.

MR. KEIZER:  Right.  Maybe starting to the panelist furthest from me is Mr. Mundenchira.  Next to Mr. Mundenchira is Ms. Aida Cipolla.

Next to Ms. Cipolla is Mr. Elias Lyberogiannis, and next to Mr. Lyberogiannis is Ms. Sushma Narisetty.

Next to Ms. Narisetty is Mr. Hani Taki, and finally is Mr. Jim Trgachef, who will be able to speak to the issue relating to the external contractors.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay, I am going to affirm the panel all at the same time.
TORONTO HYDRO-ELECTRIC SYSTEM LIMITED - PANEL 1

Githu Mundenchira,

Aida Cipolla,

Elias Lyberogiannis,

Sushma Narisetty,

Hani Taki,

Jim Trgachef; Affirmed


MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  Ms. Coban, you wanted to walk us through?
Examination-In-Chief by Ms. Coban:


MS. COBAN:  Thank, you Madam Chair.  I just have a couple of brief questions for Mr. Trgachef that may provide some context for the confidentiality issue.

MS. ANDERSON:  Is it on, because I am actually having...

MS. COBAN:  I may try that again.  Is that better?  I can try to project my voice.  Apologies for that.

I was just saying I have a couple of brief questions for Mr. Trgachef, which should only take a few minutes.

Mr. Trgachef, in your role at Toronto Hydro, have you been involved in negotiations with external contractors and with the labour union?

MR. TRGACHEF:  Yes, I have.

MS. COBAN:  And can you explain to us, based on your involvement in those negotiations, how the disclosure of this information would affect Toronto Hydro's ability to negotiate agreements with those contractors and the union.


MR. TRGACHEF:  First of all, I will start off with indicating that during my 30-year career at Toronto Hydro, I have participated as mentioned in both labour negotiations and several contract negotiations.

Based on my experience, I do believe that this information, if it were to be made publicly available, it would put upward pressure on future negotiations with external contractors and the labour union.

We have been working diligently to manage the cost pressures in our growing and congested service territory, the disclosure of this information could undermine those efforts to date, as well as our future efforts in this regard.

MS. COBAN:  How could this information actually be used by the contractors and the union if the results are aggregated and merely representing an average of individual performance relative to that metric?

MR. TRGACHEF:  Industry trends and market pressures are commonly used as bargaining tools in negotiations by both contractors and the union.

Our analysis compares a cost of electrical construction work using labour commodity and overhead costs.  It is reasonable to expect that if the results or underlying analysis were made publicly available, that information would become an important data point for contractors and the union, similar to how industry trends and market pressures are often invoked in negotiations.

MS. COBAN:  And the last question that I have is, how could this information affect Toronto Hydro's ability to secure competitive agreements with the contractors and the union?

MR. TRGACHEF:  As I am sure you can appreciate, competition in the marketplace is a key to keeping costs as low as possible.

I believe that this information could undercut competition, because it provides the contractors and the union access to commercially sensitive information, which is not otherwise available in the competitive market.

Having access to this information would allow these parties to explore opportunities to push additional costs or responsibilities on Toronto Hydro.

This could be done directly through unit cost price increases or salary wage compensation increases, or indirectly through other contractual obligations in a negotiated agreement.

MS. COBAN:  Thank you.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  The panel does have some questions, so I think we will start with Mr. Janigan.
Questions by the Board:


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much.  I just have some more basic questions in terms of how the comparison was done.  I take it that what you have addressed is the percentage results of that comparison, and that is what we're talking about here?  You indicated there was some underlying data that might be revealed, but I understood that it was only associated with the percentage results between internal and external contractors.  Am I correct on that?

MR. TRGACHEF:  The percentage result is the outcome of the analysis.

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.

MR. TRGACHEF:  There is underlying components that derive that outcome.

MR. JANIGAN:  But I think in terms of dealing with the question of confidentiality all we're dealing with is the underlying -- not the underlying data, the ultimate outcome.  Do you understand that?

MS. COBAN:  Maybe I could be of assistance on this point.  So the initial request was made with respect to those results detailed in our prefiled evidence.  Subsequently through interrogatories and undertakings, additional information was filed further to that analysis, and we're seeking confidential treatment of that additional information as well.  I can provide you those references if that would be helpful.

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.  I have that.  My understanding was that basically what was in place with respect to the confidentiality from the standpoint of the panel was simply the outcome.

Just in dealing with this study, how many projects between the 2013 and 2016 period did this involve?

MR. TRGACHEF:  So typically we would analyze approximately 10 percent of the projects that would be completed by our internal work force on an annual basis.  That would represent roughly ten projects a year.  So for a period of '13 to '16, assuming that is four years, it would be about 40 projects.

MR. JANIGAN:  And I understand in order to do the comparison, what you did was you obtained estimates from your contractors on what it would have cost to do these projects?  Am I correct on that?

MR. TRGACHEF:  We would utilize our unit price cost structure and estimate the project, the actual as constructed project, and apply those unit costs to that work.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Is that with respect to the internal costs?  Or the external costs?

MR. TRGACHEF:  It would be -- the work that was completed internally would be unitized and estimated utilizing the external unit pricing.

MR. JANIGAN:  And where does the external unit price come from?

MR. TRGACHEF:  The external unit prices come from our term contract, which we utilize for executing projects externally.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  So the estimate itself is also coming from Toronto Hydro, based on that contract?  I guess what I am saying is nobody went out and got an estimate from individual contractors of what it would have cost to do this project?

MR. TRGACHEF:  Well, to answer your question, if I understand it correctly, what we would do is take the average unit cost from our contractors and apply it to the work being compared.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, I know you have expressed concerns about the effect of having a comparison become a matter of public knowledge.  And I am just -- you have given some examples of what might happen.  I was wondering, if a percentage turned out that it was internal -- and I am using a hypothetical.  I am not going to refer to the actuals -- that the internal work was more expensive than the external work, wouldn't that be something you would want to bring up in labour negotiations with the union?

MR. TRGACHEF:  In my experience labour negotiations are independent.  Comparing costing from different associated negotiations is not beneficial.  When you are negotiating in a bargaining situation, you try to utilize the information that pertains to that negotiation and negotiate the best outcome from that information that you have.

So typically if it's a union-labour negotiation, you would use related benchmarking from settlements from other negotiations on labour.  Comparing contract cost versus internal, as you can see through this analysis, is not an apple-to-apple comparison.  There is many different factors that you would have to bring together to make that comparison, as we have done here.

So to answer your question on that, we typically don't compare either if we're negotiating externally or internally those agreements that have been settled as a reference point.

MR. JANIGAN:  But if it's not useful for you to bring up the fact that, you know, you're paying more for internal construction work than you are for external construction work, why would it be useful for the union to bring it up in the event that the outcome was different?

MR. TRGACHEF:  I would not know.  I don't have an answer for that.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, I'm sorry to interrupt.  It is Michael Millar.  Apparently we have just heard from the court reporting staff that they're having some feedback issues, and they asked that everyone who is not speaking should have their microphone off.  So if they could check that.  Thank you.

MS. DeMARCO:  Madam Chair, just to echo, in the back row we're having the same issues here.  We can't hear properly.

MS. ANDERSON:  I suspect it is the fans.  Is that the problem?

MS. GIRVAN:  It is like a hissing sound.

MS. ANDERSON:  I don't hear it.

MS. GIRVAN:  Yeah, we hear it really loudly.

MS. ANDERSON:  Perhaps staff can...

[technical interruption]


MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, you can try turning everything off and then turning it back on.

[Laughter]

[technical interruption]


MS. ANDERSON:  I don't hear anything.  Do you?  But I wasn't hearing it before.

MR. GARNER:  I don't hear it any more.

MS. ANDERSON:  So the old reboot worked.

MS. GIRVAN:  We will let you know --


MS. ANDERSON:  We apologize for interrupting.

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.  Mr. Trgachef, and dealing with the situation with the external contractors, are you telling us that that -- if the percentage favoured the external contractors in relation to costs, that they would use that information in terms of the bidding process to force up higher contracts --


MR. TRGACHEF:  Yes.  Sorry?

MR. JANIGAN:  Sorry, higher paying contracts.

MR. TRGACHEF:  Right.  Potentially, yes.  It would be an input no different than other market-driving inputs that would indicate that their pricing is competitive.

And in that sense, if there's a margin between that competitiveness, it would be reasonable to think that they would take advantage of that.

MR. JANIGAN:  If I can understand the procurement process, you have indicated in your evidence it’s a competitive process among the contractors that are able to bid.

So would every contractor, having that percentage information, likely decide that they would up their bids in accordance with that?

MR. TRGACHEF:  I wouldn't be able to answer that.  I think it would be reasonable to think.  With the contractors that may currently be under contract with us, knowing that there is a margin between their competition, I believe they would leverage that regardless if, you know, it's a competition process or not.

I can tell you between our individual contracts, the margins are very tight between each other.

So in that regard, I do believe, you know, making this information public if it's a favourable outcome for the contracts -- the contractors, they would leverage that.

MR. JANIGAN:  And finally, is it the percentage differential or the underlying data that is the concern of Toronto Hydro, or both?

MR. TRGACHEF:  It would be the weighted average percentage.

MR. JANIGAN:  Those are all of my questions.

MS. ANDERSON:  Ms. Frank, do you have any questions?

MS. FRANK:  Just one question.  This information is, in terms of benchmarking type information, is available from many other sources not specific to Toronto Hydro, but in aggregate that information is available broadly.  Is that correct?

MR. TRGACHEF:  Not to my awareness, no.

MS. FRANK:  So you don't know what the average increase is for contractors?  That information isn't available from any public source?

MR. TRGACHEF:  There are benchmark indexes that is available as a comparison.  But what we're referring to here is a cost comparison, in this case between internal and external.  To my knowledge, that information is not available in the marketplace.

MS. FRANK:  I thought in your original response to your counsel, you had indicated that there were various benchmarks that the parties would use, both in negotiations and in estimating their contracts.

MR. TRGACHEF:  Those would be market-driven benchmarks, yes.

MS. FRANK:  Right.  So what I am now wondering is, if market-driven information is broadly available, how much more would this information that is specific to Toronto Hydro influence a bid, or influence your unions?

I am surprised by the degree of harm that you are concerned about.

MR. TRGACHEF:  The way I would answer that question is the comparison that the market benchmarks provide are more apple to apple comparisons.  They'd be from, you know, construction indexes to labour indexes.  It is our opinion that this outcome is a stand-alone when you compare that to external indexes.  And because our overheads are different and our structures are different, that information is not available in the marketplace, as far as I am aware.

MS. FRANK:  Okay, that's fine.  Thank you.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  I don't have any further questions.  So we are going to confer about the matter and make a determination later.

In the meantime, the information will continue to be treated as confidential on an interim basis.

There are quite a number of confidential materials in this proceeding, and I just remind everyone to, if you are going to refer to something, to give us heads-up so we can go in camera; and also to do that sparingly, if you can.  It certainly makes it more efficient that we don't have to ask people to leave the room if we don't have to.

I think that is ...

MR. STEPHENSON:  Madam Chair, if I might?  It is Richard Stephenson on behalf of the PWU.  There is an aspect of this specific confidentiality issue which pertains very directly to me and to my client. And on the basis of what I have heard, I did have a very brief submission that I would like to make in order that you could consider it.

The Board made a specific ...

MS. ANDERSON:  Just before we do that, we weren’t  intending to have submissions on this, because there was an opportunity for that.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I appreciate that.  But this is -- this is a matter which is unique to me and my client because the Board made an order that was specific to me and my client.  That doesn't affect anybody else.  And it is apparent on the basis of what we have just heard that, I think the Board was operating under a misapprehension when it made that order.

And this relates specifically to the fact that on the material which has been designated as confidential, with respect to the PWU alone, I am not permitted to share that information -- that is this differential cost information
-- with my consultants, who have executed the undertaking.

MS. ANDERSON:  Yes, we are aware of that.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Only I am allowed to see that.  But on the basis of the information we just heard from this witness, he appeared to acknowledge that, in response to the question from Mr. Janigan, that on the union side of this piece, this information actually doesn't impact union negotiations at all.  And that, as I understood it, was the basis for this specific order which was made in relation to me and my consultants.

It seemed to eliminate the underpinning of that specific order altogether.

I will leave that with you, and you can make whatever order you might.  But it did appear to me that seemed to be -- arise directly out of the evidence we heard this morning.

MS. ANDERSON:  Ms. Coban?

MS. COBAN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  The only thing that I would add to that is to say that in determining that the PWU could only share this information with counsel and not with its client, the Board was mindful of the potential implications of this information being disclosed.

We have heard Mr. Trgachef speak about that potential, but he was not able to speak to the extent to which this information has currently been used for labour negotiations because it hasn't been made publicly available.

But he has, based on his experience, been able to tell us what he thinks based on that experience would be the effect of this information being used in future negotiations.

It is on that basis that we think that it is appropriate to continue to limit the access of this information to PWU counsel only.

MS. ANDERSON:  As I said previously, we will take this under advisement and we will let you know of our determination at a later time.  And it remains confidential on an interim basis, under the same terms.  Thank you.

So those are, I guess, our preliminary matters.  Already we have gone a little over time, and I guess that is the panel's doing this time.  Let's make sure it is not you guys in the future.

So, Mr. Keizer, let's begin with the direct examination.

MR. KEIZER:  Maybe I can come to assistance and I will do a very short direct examination and get us back on time.  I will have a short direct examination maybe, if I could address the witnesses, particularly starting with Mr. Mundenchira.

You are supervisor capital projects, is that correct?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. KEIZER:  Could you briefly describe the scope of your responsibilities?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Yes.  I work in the finance department and in the department, I am responsible for the capital planning process, as well as some of the management reporting activities.

MR. KEIZER:  Thank you.  And Ms. Cipolla, you are executive vice-president and chief financial officer?

MS. CIPOLLA:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  Could you briefly describe your scope of responsibilities?

MS. CIPOLLA:  So I am responsible for the strategic and business planning process for the organization, in addition to responsibilities around the accounting, finance and treasury activities for the organization.

MR. KEIZER:  And Mr. Lyberogiannis, you are general manager engineering, correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  Could you also describe the scope of your responsibilities?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Certainly.  I am responsible for the asset management, including investment planning and program management for the organization.

MR. KEIZER:  Thank you.  Ms. Narisetty, you are manager engineering services, correct?

MS. NARISETTY:  That's correct.

MR. KEIZER:  Could you also briefly describe the scope of your responsibilities?

MS. NARISETTY:  I work in the engineering division, and I am responsible for developing the maintenance plans, performing the correcting works, and also managing system reliability.

MR. KEIZER:  Thank you.

Mr. Taki, you are director, standards and technical studies, correct?

MR. TAKI:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. KEIZER:  And could you briefly describe your scope of responsibilities?

MR. TAKI:  Certainly.  I am responsible for engineering, design, and construction standards, policies, and practices, equipment quality, distributed energy resources, and protection and control.

MR. KEIZER:  And Mr. Trgachef, you are general manager, construction, correct?

MR. TRGACHEF:  That's correct, Mr. Keizer.

MR. KEIZER:  Could you also describe your scope of responsibilities?

MR. TRGACHEF:  My responsibilities include the execution of design and construction projects that are issued out externally, as well as major construction projects on behalf of Toronto Hydro, and externally initiated projects as well.

MR. KEIZER:  Madam Chair, just before I just proceed with my direct examination, there was a document that was circulated to the parties, and I think it would be helpful to have it marked as an exhibit, and that document was a --it was entitled "2020 Rate Application Oral Hearing Witness Panels", but included in there was a listing of all of the interrogatories and undertakings and updated interrogatories that were applicable to each of the panels.

I have hard copies here if you wish me to hand it up to you.  Just, I think it would be helpful to mark, because people may refer to it throughout, and also, I was going to refer to it in my direct.

MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, assuming there are no objections, that would be Exhibit K1.1. It is the oral hearing evidence mapping document.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  DOCUMENT ENTITLED "2020 RATE APPLICATION ORAL HEARING WITNESS PANELS".

MR. KEIZER:  That's the first exhibit.  And really, the purpose of my asking for it to be marked as an exhibit is that -- is to address the panel.  And maybe we can do this collectively and ask each of you to reply, is that you are aware of the evidence which you have been filed on a prefiled basis as well as the transcripts from the technical conference, including also all the interrogatories and undertakings that are set out in Exhibit K1.1, which has been marked this morning.

I ask you as to whether you adopt that as your evidence for the purposes of this proceeding.  If I could maybe start with Mr. Mundenchira.

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Yes, I adopt these.

MS. CIPOLLA:  Yes, I adopt these.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, I adopt these.

MS. NARISETTY:  Yes, I adopt these.

MR. TAKI:  Yes, I adopt these.

MR. TRGACHEF:  Yes, I adopt these.

MR. KEIZER:  That was in particular with respect to those designated to panel 1.

That is the extent of my direct examination, Madam Chair.  So I --


MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  I appreciate that.

MR. KEIZER:  -- I now turn it over to my learned colleagues to -- for cross-examination.

MS. ANDERSON:  And I think, Mr. Rubenstein, I think you are up.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Rubenstein:

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Good morning, Panel, witness panel.  I have a compendium of documents.  I wonder if we could have that marked.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  It is Exhibit K1.2, the SEC compendium for panel 1.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  SEC COMPENDIUM FOR PANEL 1.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  The compendium includes materials on the record as well as some that are not on the record that I did provide my friends two days ago.

I want to start just by orienting ourselves with this application and the requests in the application.  So maybe if we start at page number 2 of the compendium.  This is an updated capital expenditure table.

Just so I understand what you are seeking overall with respect to the capital plan in this proceeding, am I correct you are proposing to spend on a cap ex basis $2.83 billion over the 2020-2024 term?  I am just adding up the net total expenditure lines.

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as I understand it from this table, you spent or forecast to spend by the end of 2019 2.38 billion.  Do I have that right?  It is on that same table there.  You see it under 2015 to 2019 total.

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the Board approved in your last application on a cap ex basis, and you see this under CIR filing minus the 10 percent, $2.24 billion.  Do I have that correct?  Under CIR filing minus 10 percent under the 2015 to 2019 total?

MS. CIPOLLA:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Thank you very much.

So compared to what the Board approved in the last proceeding and with respect to the 2015 to 2019 custom IR plan, compared to what you are seeking in this application for the 2020 to 2024, you are seeking about $590 million more?  Will you take that subject to check?  I'm just -- 2.83 minus 2.24.

[Witness panel confers]

MS. CIPOLLA:  We don't agree with the calculation, because it's comparing the 10 percent cut in the -- to capital, as opposed to a 10 percent cut to capital as it equates to the calculation of revenue requirement.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, I understand.  I am only talking on a cap ex basis.  We're going to get to the in-service additions, but on a cap ex basis, or reduced on a cap ex basis 10 percent, and so on a cap ex basis about a $590 million more you're going to spend then, what would be the equivalent of the cap ex approval in the last case?

MS. CIPOLLA:  We would suggest that the better comparison would be to bridge, in which would be an increase of capital 448 million, subject to check.

And that would include non-regulated capital components as well.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Just on the math, would you agree with me that the approval with the 10 percent was 2.24 million, and you agree with me you are seeking 2.83 million.  Just the difference of that, as a mathematical amount, is 590 million, correct?  Would you agree with that at least?

MS. CIPOLLA:  We would note that the Board approved a capital revenue related requirement, and that incorporated and resulted in the calculation and then the output of capital.

The amount here on the CRV filing that you are referring to is the 2.2, would be a proxy of what that 10 percent cut would be.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So as a proxy of the cut, would you agree with me you are seeking on a cap ex basis 590 million more?

MS. CIPOLLA:  We would agree that the mathematical calculation is correct.  But we wouldn't agree to the comparison, because we would compare it to the capital revenue requirement that was approved in the last Board's decision.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Just so we understand -- you may not agree with the implications of it, I guess -- but that is about a 19 percent increase, the $590 million?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. CIPOLLA:  We can't confirm that that's the correct calculation based on the numbers that we have.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You can't confirm that 2.83 divided by 2.31, minus one is about 19 percent?

MS. CIPOLLA:  Unfortunately, we can't hear you.  Can you please repeat that?  There’s fans behind us.  Our apologies.  It is very hard to hear.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What I am asking is -- I apologize, you're right.  I made an error myself.

So sorry, it is about a 26 percent increase.  Do I have that correct?  One of the major drivers in the increase in spending in this application, as I understand it, is system renewal spending, that category, correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  One of the -- the largest category of spending in 2015 to 2019 is the system renewal, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  As I understand it, you spent or expect to spend about $1.31 billion in capital expenditures in system renewal between 2015 and 2019?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Subject to check, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Just so you know, it is on the table that ...

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as I understand, you are seeking to spend about $1.62 billion on system renewal capital expenditures?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Over the 2020-2024 period, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So that is an increase of about 24 percent?  Would you take that, subject to check?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we turn over to page 8, this is on an in-service additions basis, you are seeking to have approved about $2.74 billion in in-service additions?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we go to page 9, we see that you were approved to spend about $2.47 billion in in-service additions over the last custom IR term, correct?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Just a little nuance to clarify between the tables being compared.

The first table, which is appendix 2AB, includes all cap ex and it also includes non-rate base items. So those are the provincially funded capital items.

The second two tables that you referred us to have those items backed out.  So just to state that they're not exactly the same.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, you are talking about the cap ex to in-service tables, not between the tables?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Yes.  The first table you referred us to was cap ex.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  And that includes cap ex related to the non-rate base capital items.

The second table you referred us to, page 8, the in-service.  So the bottom line there is in-service additions after removing non-rate base items, as is page 9, which you just referred us to, that excludes them.

So I just wanted to point out that they're not the same.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  The cap ex tables are similar and the in-service additions are similar?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  There was one cap ex table and two in-service addition tables.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, okay.  With respect to the in-service additions, I think you agreed with me that you are seeking $2.74 billion.  And I asked you the current plan you have, you had approved $2.468 billion, correct?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Yes.  So on page -- sorry, so on page 9, there is 2.468 billion as approved in-service additions.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.  So that is about 11 percent more capital you are seeking to bring in-service in this plan versus the last plan that was approved?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. CIPOLLA:  We would agree that the 11 percent is correct.  However, we would note that the item marked as the CR filing proxy of 10 percent is not the approved amount.  The approved amount is the capital revenue requirement in the decision.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, is that different?  I understand that at the end of the day, this all flows to a revenue requirement.  But we're dealing with capital and you didn't like cap ex as a comparison because the Board approves things on an in-service-additions basis.

So is this number not correct?  Is it not reflective of a component of that decision?

MS. CIPOLLA:  We can call it a basis for the revenue requirement, perhaps.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Now, with respect -- one of the things you look at, as I understand from the application, with respect to your operations and your asset management is reliability.  Customers obviously are interested in rates and reliability.

I take it from a lot of the evidence, it's on a system-wide basis that Hydro One looks at its system reliability as essentially average.  Would that be a fair comment?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Mr. Rubenstein, can I ask you to clarify the last part of your question?  In terms of with respect to looking at it from a system-wide basis of being average?  What do you mean by average?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, when I look at the SAIDI and SAIFI metrics on a system-wide basis -- and we can walk through some of this -- as I understood from your response to Energy Probe 64 -- and I apologize it is not in the compendium -- you noted, as compared to Ontario utilities, you are in second-quartile SAIDI and third-quartile SAIFI, you reference the PSE study, where you are better than the benchmark in SAIDI and worse in SAIFI.

I take it that you seem to look at that as averaging things out, that you have average reliability compared to the benchmark on a system-wide basis.  Is that a fair comment?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Well, SAIFI and SAIDI are two measures of reliability, and, yes, on SAIFI we are typically in the third quartile, and, yes, on SAIDI we are typically in the second quartile.  So on those two separate measure basis, yes, that is the fact.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And am I correct as well you compare yourself against not just Ontario utilities and the benchmark that looks at U.S. utilities but also Canadian utilities as a whole?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  We do participate in sort of various groups where we do receive information around Canadian utilities, so, yes, we do look at them as indicators.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.  So if we turn to page 21 of the compendium, this is your annual information form, so this is the document you provide to the public.  On page 23, the only measure of reliability that I saw in the document as a benchmark was against the CEA, the Canadian Electricity Association, aggregate.  Correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  In the annual information form we do have three measures of reliability, SAIDI, SAIFI, and CAIDI.  And in this particular document the comparison is to the CEA composite.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you are much better?  On all three of those metrics.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  With respect to the CEA composite we are.  That doesn't necessarily -- yes, we are with respect to that composite measure.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, there is no other benchmarking.  I didn't see the Ontario benchmark or the U.S. benchmark in your annual information form.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  In the annual information form to the best of my knowledge there isn't any other reliability comparison, no.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So obviously you value the CEA benchmark.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  It is one indicator of comparable performance.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So let me ask about the previous plan with you.  And I would take it at a high level that in your view you are fulfilling the plan that you had approved in the last application and you are executing it on that as well?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, we are executing that plan.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Would you agree with me that central to that plan as well was also system renewal?  That was a big part of the last custom IR proceeding as well.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And one area where you would say customers are better off today with the spending and the investments that you have made is in reliability.  Correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  We have improved reliability performance, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Customers today are better off reliability-wise than they were in 2014-2015 before that plan began, correct?  I mean, you showed us this at the presentation day.  We see this on page 10, where the trend is downwards on SAIFI, for example.  Correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  If you can -- sorry, if you can bear with me one second, I am going to find, actually, the interrogatory response that you referenced earlier.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I moved past that, so -- okay.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  So Mr. Rubenstein, if I can direct you again to U-SEC 105.  And this does reference the charts that we had on the presentation day.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  This is on page 18 of my compendium, if the Panel wants to follow along as well.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.  So what we spoke about on the presentation day is over the longer-term we absolutely have made significant improvements to reliability.  However, if you are asking specifically over the 2015 to 2018 period, there are improvements, yes, you can see that, but not to the same magnitude as the longer-term trend.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Fair enough.  I am just talking about the last -- I am just talking about the last plan.  You got approval.  You are executing on your plan.  You are making improvements in SAIDI and SAIFI, correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, we are.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And a big reason for that is the replacement of defective equipment, correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And we see that on page 11 of the compendium.  It is trending downwards as well.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.  Both SAIDI and SAIFI defective equipment are trending downwards.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we go to page 12, this is an interrogatory response from the last proceeding.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And in Part C you were asked to provide SAIDI, SAIFI, and CAIDI projections that exclude loss of supply and major event days.  Do you see that question?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You provided that, if we flip over to page 14 of the compendium.  Do you see that?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we look at the results on page 16 and 17, which has the SAIDI, excluding MED and loss of supply, and SAIFI, excluding loss of supply, you are either meeting or in some cases exceeding the targets.  You actually did better.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  The targets are with reference to EP 8?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.  Page 14.  And we can walk through some of that if you'd like.  So for example, on the SAIFI metric, 2015 you projected 1.39.  You ended up doing a 1.31.  In 2016 for SAIFI you forecasted 1.28.  You did 1.28. 2017, 1.20, and you did a 1.18 -- sorry, 1.28, but in 2018 1.11.  And you ended up doing -- I am making sure I'm getting my numbers here.  It is a little -- sorry.  2015 you were forecasting to do a 1.39; you did a 1.31.  In 2016 you were forecasting a 1.28; you did a 1.28.  2017 you forecasted a 1.20; you did a 1.18.  2018, forecasted 1.1.  You did a slightly worse at 1.14.  So you were on average beating your targets.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  For SAIFI, generally speaking, we have been very close to that target line that we proposed during the last filing, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And on the SAIDI side, you actually did even better.  Just comparing those numbers.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You'd agree -- so we don't have to go through the numbers, but you agree with me that you are beating the targets?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, I do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And my understanding was the targets were based on the plan as filed, correct, in the last case?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so you got benefits based on the plan that was filed, and the Board actually didn't even give you everything you needed, or you said you needed, more accurately.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Let me take a step back, Mr. Rubenstein.  Earlier during our dialogue this morning you drew my attention to the system renewal expenditures.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  And you made reference to the fact that in system renewal, which is the category of spending which contributes the most to this particular set of reliability metrics that you have drawn my attention to, you will notice, actually, that in system renewal we have actually slightly spent more than what was the proposed plan in 2015 to 2019.

So it is not a surprise to me that with that magnitude of expenditure and the implementation execution of our plans within system renewal that we achieved the results that we did.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So the Board made a reduction.  You chose to spend, I guess, the same amount or more on system renewal, and we beat the target.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  No.  The Board made a reduction on a revenue-requirement basis.  The Board provided -- and there was a lot of dialogue during that hearing that spoke about the operational realities at Toronto Hydro, the execution challenges that we face, the need for flexibility within our programs.  Toronto Hydro implemented the 2015 to 2019 plan.

The decisions that we made were to maintain, if not slightly increase, the amount of expenditures in system renewal.  You will notice corresponding decreases in other categories as a result.  So what we did was, we -- I guess we were in alignment with the Board decision with respect to revenue requirement, but we exercised the necessary flexibility within the programs to respond to needs that arose during the 5-year period, and in doing so, we achieved the reliability improvements that you drew my attention to.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I wasn't suggesting you were doing something inappropriate.  The Board made a reduction on an envelope basis; you decided how to allocate the costs.

Ultimately what you did is you spent the money similarly.  I think you said you spent more, I believe a slightly bit more on system renewal, and ultimately you did better than your forecast, correct?  It's not a bad thing.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  To be precise, within system renewal we spent, subject to check, a few percentage points more.  Within system access, we spent less.  And again within system service, we spent less.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, if we go back to page 18, this is the forecast, on SAIFI, as I understand, for the upcoming term, no improvements.  Correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  We are forecasting to maintain SAIFI performance.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if we just flip over to the next page on SAIDI, similar.  No improvements.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  We are also forecasting to maintain reliability on SAIDI, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So it goes back to what we discussed at the beginning.  You are seeking 24 percent more in system renewal spending, but no improvements.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And is that value for money for customers?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, it certainly is.  If you can bear with me for a second, I will find an interrogatory response which speaks to specifically that question that you are asking.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.  Mr. Rubenstein, if I could draw your attention to U-EP 64, it is actually the interrogatory that you drew my attention to earlier with some of the benchmarking information.

And so if I can begin with the bottom of page 5, what I will do is paraphrase, as it is a bit of a longer excerpt.

When you speak to -- actually, I will wait until this comes up on the screen.

When you ask specifically about value for money, value for money is measured on a number of bases.

We have adopted an outcomes framework.  We have been speaking this morning about reliability.  It is one of six outcomes in that framework.  Other outcomes are safety, environmental, customer service -- and I can continue on.

In this particular interrogatory response, we speak specifically to why a -- I think you referred to it as a 24 percent increase in system renewal -- will not lead to improvements in reliability.

In this particular response, what we do is we highlight a number of programs in which we are increasing spend to address specific needs of the system that do not necessarily contribute as much to reliability as investments that we have had during 2015-2019.

With respect to your 24 percent increase on system renewal, the other -- what I would also like to add is approximately 10 percent of that is simply escalation, simply inflation.  The other 14 percent -- and we have some examples within this interrogatory if you go to page 6, for example, we are investing 122 million in the new underground system renewal downtown program.

Those investments are being made to replace obsolete lead and asbestos cables that pose environmental risks, for example. We talk about an increase in stations.

The specific items that we have identified here exceed 14 percent, so exceed that difference.  So when you peel that out, investment that goes specifically to reliability improvement is actually less than what it is in 2015-2019.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I read from page 5, starting I guess at the paragraph at line 6, you talk about how detail through the DSP, the utility has relied on various indicators of future asset performance, EGS health and other indicators of system, e.g. weather and climate analysis, to develop the expenditure plan that is placed to prevent asset failure risk from increasing over the period, e.g. by seeking to maintain the number of assets, HI and HI-5 conditions.

So do I take it then with respect to the other programs where you are not, that you -- the other programs you didn't talk about, that is the aim?  Essentially to keep the asset -- there is no reliability benefits because we are keeping asset risk at the same level it is today.  Is that how I would interpret what you are saying here?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Generally speaking, we are looking to maintain failure risk.

Of course, in addressing certain needs, we might actually be slightly improving in some particular areas.  If there is a particular area you had in mind, we can speak about that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  I want to understand some of the capital planning processes that led to the budget that obviously underpins the approvals you are seeking in this application.   Maybe the best place to start is at page 27, where you have the helpful diagram.

As I understand, this is a diagram that explains the entire process from the beginning of planning all the way to execution, correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Just so I understand where we are in the context of what you are seeking approval and where we are in the application, I understand it explains how you are going to do all of those other things.

But where are we -- the capital plan ends up at what?  The after stage 1?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  So this is our asset management process.  This is a process that is an annual process.  It is an ongoing process that occurs at all times.

The portfolio plan at stage 1 is what was used to develop the Distribution System Plan that is before the Board.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So we're really at the stage 1?  The programs in the distribution system plan and all of that is the portfolio plan?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.  All of the programs that are here are the output of the portfolio plan.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So really we're not into stage 2 and 3 and 4?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  With respect to 2020 to 2024?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.  We will be approaching -- well, maybe let me take a step back.

As I mentioned, the asset management process is an ongoing process.  Toronto Hydro's investment planning department, for example, is throughout the year issuing scopes of work which is stage 2.

Toronto Hydro's program management office is constantly identifying scopes, and including them in executable work programs; that is stage 3.

So we are always doing that.  But with respect to the 2020 program, if you would like to know where we are right now, we are sort of at the stage where we have completed stage 2.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So you have created high level scopes of work for every -- so if I am looking at 2, scope and project development, we have identification of specific needs, assessment of options, creation of high level scopes of work, refinement of scope and cost estimation.

So we have that for all -- for 2018 to 2024, every project within a program?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  I don't know if I would say every, but the vast majority, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  And if we go to page 28, this is your response to CCC number 9, there is a number of IRs that ask similar questions.  It gets a little confusing.

But we were essentially asked a number of IRs -- if you could walk us through the planning process and the timing of this.

I understand the first step of the planning process is, and you talk about this, you took initial customer engagement in late 2016.  And then in early 2017, you created strategic -- taking into account that customer engagement you created strategic parameters for the capital plan.

Do I have that correct?  That is essentially the first couple of steps there?

MS. CIPOLLA:  Yes.  I would just add that as part of that process and those initial stages we did an initial assessment of our operational needs.  And so that considered both our operating and capital needs in addition to the steps you described.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if we go to page 30 -- this is from the evidence -- you set out those strategic parameters.  It begins at line 12, and you see 1, 2, and on the next page 3.

And the strategic parameters -- there was a price limit, a capital budget limit, and then there was performance objectives.  Do I have that correct?

MS. CIPOLLA:  Yes.  Those were the strategic parameters at the time of the penultimate plan.  And so there was a stage previous to that when we did our initial top-down, which we had our planning parameters, and then the final plan that is in front of the Board and was filed in August of 2018.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry.  Back up for a second.  The strategic parameters were not -- I understood -- maybe I -- it is not clear to me.  My understanding is you essentially -- you did -- I guess looked at your system.  You did the customer engagement, and then you started with those strategic parameters.  And that is how you developed the first proposed plan.  Is that not correct?

MS. CIPOLLA:  How I would classify it is, is that when we completed our first customer engagement phase and the initial understanding of the operational needs, we determined our high-level planning parameters, and those were top-down, executive-approved planning parameters that we used.

That then through our normal business planning process, through the summer of 20 -- in the summer of 2017 we continued to refine that plan, and it resulted in a penultimate plan that resulted in our strategic parameters in November of 2017.  That plan was then brought in front of our customers for our second phase of the feedback, in which then we made modifications based on that customer feedback and resulted in our final plan.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So there is a plan that came before the strategic parameters?

MS. CIPOLLA:  There was a high-level operational needs assessment to determine what the needs were of the system, and that is described, as you have noted, in your compendium, on page 28.  We describe here that -- on line 21, we began in late 2016.  Toronto Hydro generated a high-level assessment of its operational needs, and then at that point in addition took on customer engagement, and then incorporated those to come up with the high-level planning parameters in Q1 of 2017.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let's talk about those high-level strategic parameters.  As I understood, the first one was a price limit.  You were going to set the upper limit at 3.5 percent cap on average annual increase on base distribution rates, correct?

MS. CIPOLLA:  At the high-level planning parameters, the range between 3 to 3 and a half percent.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What was the basis of that?

MS. CIPOLLA:  The basis of the planning parameters, specifically, the price was about being able to strike the correct balance of listening to the customer needs, and their needs and priorities in phase 1 of our customer engagement.  And in doing that we also understood what the operational needs were of the business.  So we understood their concerns, both the residential customers and our large customers.  So price was obviously a large concern, but as was maintaining reliability and in those areas where reliability was below average was to get that to average.

But we had to balance as well when we heard from our customers that we needed to balance our customer service, our legal obligations, and so in doing that we considered price tolerances around our OM&A budget and our capital budget, and with that customer feedback the third element of our planning parameters was determining our outcomes framework, and that was considering what outcomes our plan would execute through, and we speak in -- we speak of those throughout the evidence as six key ones that we have looked at.  And those outcomes specifically are referred throughout the evidence, and on your compendium, page number 31, speaks to those outcomes of customer service, reliability, safety, public policy, environment, and finance, and so --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let me cut you off.  I am going to ask you about that.  I just wanted to ask about the price limit, the 3.5 percent --


MS. CIPOLLA:  So we took those three elements together, and the output of the price cap on OM&A and capital, considering what outcomes we needed, we put all of those elements together, and that is how we derived out that price cap between 3 and 3 and a half percent.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the capital budget limit, you set an upper limit of $562 million, correct?

MS. CIPOLLA:  No.  At the preliminary planning point it was 550 million or 2.75 billion.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Right.  Sorry, I am confused.  I thought the initial -- I am just reading.  It says:

"Toronto Hydro set an upper limit of 562 million for the average annual capital plan budget."

I thought that this is from your strategic parameters.

MS. CIPOLLA:  To clarify, the strategic parameters that we refer in the evidence is as at the penultimate plan, which was at November 2017.  And what I was referring to was the high-level planning parameters that started in Q1 of 2017.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So back up.  When we talk about price limits are we talking about the high-level parameters or are we talking about the strategic parameters?

MS. CIPOLLA:  The price limit is related to both.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So that didn't change?

MS. CIPOLLA:  The price limit did modify, as you would appreciate, as your plan continues to refine, modifications are made to that.

And so at the beginning it was 3 to 3 and a half percent, and then up to 3.5 as the strategic parameter and as described here on page 30.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You went with the higher --


MS. CIPOLLA:  It is not that we went with the higher.  At that point in time it was the calculation of the strategic parameter, and as you will note, the final plan resulted in a 3 percent increase in our August 2018 application.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the capital budget limit of $562 million, you end up roughly there -- I think your average is about 565 million.  Correct?

MS. CIPOLLA:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Then you talked about the performance objectives.  And as I understood, the third parameter with respect to performance objectives is, you wanted to express the plan in performance to demonstrate the value to customers.  That is what I took away from the evidence.  Is that fair?

MS. CIPOLLA:  I recognize that, but I will let my colleague speak to that as well.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.  We would be looking to identify what the performance would be of the plan that we're putting in place.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I am just using words from what it says here.  It says:

"Toronto Hydro developed an outcome framework that aligned with utility's corporate strategic pillars and the renewed regulatory framework, establishing a lens through which utility could express its plan and performance in terms of demonstrating value to customers and are meaningful to its operation."

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, that is what the evidence says.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so you referenced the renewed regulatory framework.  You would agree with me that an important part of the RRF is the idea of continuous improvement.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you list, beginning at page 31, all the way through on page 32, the inputs to the strategic parameters, correct, and you have a whole list.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So as I understand it, you took the strategic parameters and you developed the capital plan.  Correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  We actually had two items going.  We had the strategic parameters that were being developed from the top-down, and as part of our annual investment planning processes we were developing a bottom-up sort of program-by-program plan with alternative levels of expenditure.  So we were doing those two things together.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That is what I was just going to ask you about.  On page 35 your response to 1B-SEC-5, you mention that you did a bottom-up capital and operational budgets.  Correct?

MS. CIPOLLA:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then the next paragraph you mention that the needs and costs -- sorry.  I am looking at page 35, beginning at paragraph 18, as the capital operations plans and the budgets mature through the process, the needs and cost pressures of the business plan pressed against the budgetary limits that were set at the outset of the process.  That is the strategic parameter budget limits we're talking about?

MS. CIPOLLA:  Yes.  It was balancing through the operational needs that were higher, and as described through the evidence and specifically referenced in Staff 73, those operational needs were far exceeded those of where we landed on the penultimate and then the file plan.

So it was about striking a balance through those, and that was based on having those strategic parameters in place.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  One of the ways that you looked at the operational needs was through your asset condition information that you had.  Correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  That was one of a number of lenses that we can view our assets needs through.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I am not sure when the Board wants to take its break.

MS. ANDERSON:  Yes.  I think the schedule showed not till 11:30.  We were thinking that was a bit long.  So 11:15-ish, but maybe when there is a natural break in where you are going.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure.

I want to understand.  In the previous custom IR decisions, I understand that even though you had asset condition information, you were criticized for relying not enough on the condition and too much on asset age.  Is that correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  There was some feedback about that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  In essence, the Board's view was that you didn't use the asset condition information sufficiently in your capital planning, correct?  Maybe we can look -- I could take you to what the Board actually said.  Maybe we could go to page 40 of the compendium.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  We can see it says:
"The OEB shares the concerns of parties that age of the assets may be too heavily weighted in determination of end of useful life.  Toronto Hydro concedes that the age of the asset is a primary driver with respect to asset replacement.  Toronto Hydro also states that asset condition does factor into the decisions they make in respect to asset replacement."


Then we can see -- if we go to the next page, we see this in the second sentence, there is an example provided.  This is only one example, but it demonstrates the OEB's concerns that there is too heavy an emphasis placed on asset age rather than asset condition.

Do you see that?

MS. NARISETTY:  Yes, we can see that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  The example the Board used, going back to page 40, is:
"SEC drew OEB's attention to Toronto Hydro’s single largest program, its underground circuit renewal program E6.1.  The program seeks to replace underground switches, transformers and cables at a cost of 459.3 million over the 5-year term.  Toronto Hydro plans to replace 1,667 underground transformers over the 5 years.  348 are scheduled to be replaced in 2015 alone.

"However, the asset condition assessment information conducted by Kinectrics showed that in 2014, only 33 underground transformers are in poor or very poor condition, as the table below shows."


Do you see that?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So that, as I understood, was one of the reasons the Board made a reduction in your capital plan, as proposed.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, it was feedback that we received from the Board.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So if we turn to page 44, this is a table you provided in response, that was updated in U-AMPCO-30.  The only change I made for the purpose of this application is I just added the total columns.  Do you see that?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What the original table showed, and that was updated in U-AMPCO-130, was taking the number of assets that were in the plan.  The next set of columns were actual and forecast, and the last is what is in the proposal, correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  If we go to the same program, this is the E6.1, you replaced 2,070 underground transformers, correct?

MR. TAKI:  Yes, that is what is in the table.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So after receiving the Board's critical comments on the amount of underground transformer assets you replaced, instead of replacing the planned 1,667, you actually replaced even more.  Do I have that correct?

MR. TAKI:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Maybe if we go back to the decision, go to page 41 of the compendium, the Board says in the last paragraph here:
"Toronto Hydro states that capital replacement is a cornerstone of the application.  Therefore, the OEB finds that Toronto Hydro's approach should include more emphasis on asset condition assessment and at what state asset renewal should be should be achieved.  This will require some changes to the proposed plan.”

Do you see that?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So the proposed changes that you ended up making was do more underground, replace more underground ...

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Let me take a step back and speak to you a little bit about why we decided to make some of those decisions.

So you are correct that you have drawn our attention to some of the, I guess -- you may want to call them shortcomings of the asset condition assessment at the time.

We took the Board's feedback and over the past couple of years, we’ve devoted significant time to improving our asset condition assessment.  You will note that we have a new asset condition assessment methodology that is on record right now.

As we were working through the 2015-2019 period, we identified significant needs in our underground system that needed to be addressed, that needed to be addressed for reasons other than specifically what is -- was identified at the time using the Kinectrics asset condition assessment methodology.

So as we worked through the 2015-2019 plan, we made the necessary adjustments to that specific underground system renewal program to address the needs that we were seeing.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So the Board says 1,667 underground transformers condition information doesn't support -- you're using too much age.

And the response is: We will do more.  Is that correct?  The change you made was you did more?

MR. TAKI:  Mr. Rubenstein, I would like to take you to page 27 of the evidence, Exhibit 2B, section E6.2.  We addressed this specifically there.  I will just give it a moment to come up on the screen.

So what you will see at the bottom of page 27 is that we state the increase in the number of transformer units was due to an increasing need to address submersible transformers that were at risk of containing PCBs.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So that PCB information would not be reflected in your asset condition information?

MS. NARISETTY:  No.  PCB information is not part of the asset condition assessment.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That is the cause of, I guess, what the Board was saying.  Only 33 were in poor condition, the difference between that and the 2,070 is primarily due to PCB replacement?

Is that what I should take away from what you said?

MR. TAKI:  I can't confirm specifically that it is the difference between the 33 and 2,070.  But the main reason for the increase is that transformers are at risk of containing PCBs.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's a good time to take a break.

MS. ANDERSON:  Let's take a 20-minute break and ...

MR. GARNER:  Madam Chair, over here, Mark Garner.  May I bring up a quick item just for myself?

Due to a prior commitment in another proceeding, I need to be away this afternoon and perhaps parts of tomorrow, or all of tomorrow.

I am not sure we're going to take lunch.  I just wanted to tell you so that if I have to leave during this, there is no disrespect and obviously no disinterest.  And also, Staff has done their very best to accommodate my schedule, so I just -- thank you.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 11:10 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:40 a.m.

MS. ANDERSON:  Please be seated.  Thank you whoever took us off the air last time.  I think I forgot when I left.

Mr. Rubenstein.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.

I just want to circle back to something that was said at the end, before we took the break, and that is with respect to the PCB replacements driving the underground transformer replacement.  Do you recall that conversation?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, we do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I was wondering if you are able to undertake to provide me how many for each of the years of underground transformers were replaced because of the PCB issue, and not because of condition or some other reason.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Maybe let me take a step back, because this might be helpful.

So we -- I guess for a number of years now we have been trying to manage an issue of leaking submersible transformers, and over the last three years, four years, a number of those transformers that have been leaking have contained PCBs.

So when you ask for that specific undertaking, you would like to know specifically what we've replaced as a result of the oil leaks containing PCBs?  Is that what you're after?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, maybe I will step back.  I understood the evidence when I asked about why you are replacing so many more than even you requested in the last case, considering the Board's decision, and I took it from some of -- the answer was, this is mainly caused because of PCB issues which were not in the asset condition assessment in the last case.  So -- and I asked -- I am trying to understand actually how many.  I would like to have that essentially verified that that is the big driver.  And so to me it would seem to be, which assets are being replaced, because of PCBs, that is, would not show up in that original asset condition assessment?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  We can take an undertaking to provide information of that nature, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  That would be J1.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.3:  TO ADVISE WHICH ASSETS ARE BEING REPLACED, BECAUSE OF PCBS, THAT IS, WOULD NOT SHOW UP IN THAT ORIGINAL ASSET CONDITION ASSESSMENT.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.

So continuing on the issue of the asset condition assessment, I understand that the methodology has also changed from the last case.  Correct?

MS. NARISETTY:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  In the last case you were using what I describe as the Kinectrics approach, or at least an approach they audited and blessed, I guess, to some degree, correct?  You moved to this new methodology.  Correct?

MS. NARISETTY:  The biggest methodology was the Kinectrics methodology.  The new methodology that we have adopted is a CNAIM methodology.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the previous methodology looked at the asset sample, you took your condition assessment from the sampling or other testing that you did, and determined their condition and came up with a corresponding house score based on the condition of those assets, and it falls within five different categories from very good to very poor.  Correct?

MS. NARISETTY:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that is a pretty standard methodology in Ontario, correct?

MS. NARISETTY:  On the Kinectrics methodology?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.

MS. NARISETTY:  I believe so.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that was based on pure condition information?

MS. NARISETTY:  Condition was one of the inputs, as was age, for example.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Age was a condition to the previous one.

MS. NARISETTY:  Oh, no, no, not the previous one.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  The previous methodology was pure condition information?

MS. NARISETTY:  It used the deficiency and condition information available from our inspection forms, for example.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And in this new application -- in this application you revise the methodology to a new methodology that is from the U.K., and I think the acronym is CNAIME?

MS. NARISETTY:  CNAIM.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So the CNAIM methodology?

MS. NARISETTY:  CNAIM.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And this is from, as I understand, a methodology that is used in the U.K.?

MS. NARISETTY:  It is a methodology that was developed in collaboration between Ofgem, the U.K. regulator, I believe, and their local DNOs.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Are you aware of that methodology being used anywhere else in North America?

MS. NARISETTY:  Personally, I wouldn't be able to answer that question.  I don't know.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And at a high level I understand what the new methodology does is it doesn't just look at asset condition, it actually starts with the age and how age is a predictor of asset condition.  Then it is modified with condition information that you have?

MS. NARISETTY:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then it characterizes the output of that into five categories from HI1, the best, to HI5, the worst, correct?

MS. NARISETTY:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And we see what those mean at page 65.  We see that at the diagram at the bottom, it explains, we have starting from new or good condition all the way to end of serviceable life intervention required, correct?

MS. NARISETTY:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So you decided to switch from a methodology that was pure condition based to one that starts with age and is modified by condition.  That's at a high level the big change?

MS. NARISETTY:  So we responded to the Board's decision from last time on our last rate application, which was to incorporate condition information better, and we did look at the various methodologies that are available out there.  And we found this CNAIM methodology that is really industrial leading in the space and decided to adopt it.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, explain to me how that goes, that is responsive to the Board.  My understanding from the proceeding, the Board said you need to use your condition information more, and ultimately what you have done now is changed the asset condition methodology to one that is primarily age-based, that is layered with conditions.

MS. NARISETTY:  I wouldn't characterize it that way.  Yes, age has a part to play in the CNAIM methodology.  Perhaps I can refer you to the limitations of the previous methodology, and that was one of the main drivers why we could not rely on that information as much.

So if I can refer you to our undertaking, our undertaking response 1.16.  Page 4.  And Table 2.  Here we highlight some of the limitations of the old Kinectrics methodology and how the CNAIM methodology overcomes that.

So specifically the previous methodology, there was a lack of a formal link between the condition of the asset and the probability of failure.  So the scores that we would get at the end of the day from the model, we were not able to rely on it as much as we can with the CNAIM methodology, which is far more robust and has a very strong relationship between what the condition of the asset is in the field and what is the general probability of failure when it is classified into the different five health index bands.

And there are other limitations as such, for example, there are certain critical conditions that were missed by the previous methodology and were masked, but are emphasized properly to reflect the actual condition of the asset in the field and hence variable to have more confidence in the CNAIM methodology.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If you could turn to page 46 of the compendium.

MS. NARISETTY:  Okay.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  This is a table that we created just comparing the old methodology which you last used in 2016, so that is the last year you had information from the old methodology.

MS. NARISETTY:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the new methodology, 2017 is what you have information for.

MS. NARISETTY:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So we are comparing the two, and if we look at comparing poor to very poor in HI4 to HI5, where you have the same information, what I see is it differs by differing amounts on the assets, but the assets all look worse with the new methodology.

MS. NARISETTY:  The assets and how they're classified as per the new methodology are more reflective of the actual condition in the field.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that is they're in worse condition?

MS. NARISETTY:  In general, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So if we turn back to page 41, where it says -- this is the second paragraph from the bottom:

"The OEB is of the view that actual asset condition rather than calculated end of life should be primarily -- sorry, should be the primary determining factor when an asset should be replaced."

Do you see that?

MS. NARISETTY:  I'm sorry, can you repeat the question, please?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure.  The Board says in its previous decision:

"The OEB is of the view that an actual asset -- sorry, actual asset condition rather than calculated end of life should be the primary determining factor when an asset should be replaced."

Correct?

MS. NARISETTY:  Yes, I can see that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So how is having an asset condition methodology which moves from condition only to asset-age and then condition is overlaid on top of that, achieving that?  Aren't you going backwards?

MS. NARISETTY:  We are not.  And if I can clarify again that this is a methodology that is industrial leading, has been developed by Ofgem and their local utilities and is used as part of the development of their distribution system plan, and they adopted it.

In fact, if I can take you back to the undertaking response in 1.16, we have also validated with our own lived experience, where we ran the models, the two models for different asset classes and specific assets and identified that, for example, a submersible transformer that we found was corroded and was leaking oil ended up in a good or fair condition as per the previous Kinectrics methodology.  Whereas with the CM methodology put it in the HI5 health index band, which is actually reflective of the condition of the asset.

Age is, yes, an input in the CM methodology and there is a good relationship between the age of an asset and how it progresses in terms of its life and the probability of failure.

However, condition place a very significant role in the CM methodology to ultimately give us a score that is very much reflective of the actual condition of the asset and its probability of failure.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So was the Board wrong to say that you should use actual asset condition rather than calculated end of life should be the primary determining factor when an asset should be replaced?

MS. NARISETTY:  I am not saying the Board is wrong.  I am saying we have used a methodology that is responsive to the Board's decision, and uses a methodology that will accurately reflect the condition of the asset from the field.

MR. RUBINSTEIN:  Let me ask you about some of the specific programs that are contained within the system renewal budget.

And as I read the capital plan, underground renewal horseshoe is the single largest capital program.  Do I have that right?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, Mr. Rubenstein.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.  Sorry?  Did you say something.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  You asked if it was the single largest program out of all of the programs?  That was your question.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  As I read the capital plan, the underground renewal horseshoe is the single largest capital program.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And my understanding of that program -- just so I understand, just to go back for a second.  I believe you are spending about 460 million on that program over the five years.  Do you take that, subject to check?

MR. TAKI:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as I understand, the big driver of that program is replacing underground transformers and cables due to their deteriorating condition?

MR. TAKI:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, I'm correct you don't have asset condition information related to underground cables, correct?

MR. TAKI:  No, we do not.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So you are doing it based on age?

MR. TAKI:  The underground system renewal program has a high emphasis on direct buried cable and in general condition assessments, are very much based on some kind of visual or physical assessment of the asset.  That's not available for cables.

Our experience, as has been described in the evidence and previous applications with direct buried cable, is that it deteriorates very rapidly and it fails at a much earlier age than concrete encased newer cable.

And that's what the investments in the underground system renewal program and cable are based on.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Just back to my question.  You are replacing it primarily based on age?  Or is it, actually entirely based on age?

MR. TAKI:  The replacement of cable is based on age as well as other -- the replacement of direct buried cable in the underground system renewal program is based on age as well as other factors, such as reliability.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we can go to page -- now, with respect to underground transformers on page 47, you show the asset condition information using the new methodology in this table, correct?

It shows 2017 and you are forecasting, if you made zero investments in 2024, that is what that Table 7 is supposed to reflect?

MR. TAKI:  Sorry, Mr. Rubenstein, can you repeat your question?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I just want to make sure I understand Table 7.  As I understand Table 7, and if we especially look at the total columns, 2017-2024, it is showing using your new methodology for asset condition, the categories or the asset condition the numbers for underground transformers in 2017, which you used to develop the plan and what the forecast would be of that asset condition in 2024 based on zero investments.

MR. TAKI:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And is this just with respect to underground transformers in the horseshoe area?  Or is that all underground transformers?

MR. TAKI:  I believe this is all transformers.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So what I see from this table is what you are showing, and I am adding up H4 and H5 here, in 2017 when you were developing this plan, you had 400 transformers that are in the H4 and H5 category.  Correct?

MR. TAKI:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then what I am seeing is, if you do zero investments in transformers with this program, you would have 1,203 underground transformers on your system in HI4 and HI5, correct?  2024, sorry.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. TAKI:  Mr. Rubenstein, as I am reviewing this table, it seems to me there might be some inconsistencies in the information in the table.

So perhaps we can -- if you have a question I could try to address it.  If not, we will have to take it back and try to address your question.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can I ask what inconsistencies you think are in this table?

MR. TAKI:  The actual numbers of the condition.  There seems to be an error, based on more up-to-date information that I have seen.  So that is why I think there’s some inconsistencies here.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Well ...

MR. KEIZER:  I guess the question is whether or not, Mr. Rubenstein, are you going past the lunch break?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  Maybe we can look at it over the lunch hour and report back as to what may be the issue.  And Mr. Rubenstein maybe could address that at that time.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Give me a minute.

MS. ANDERSON:  Agreed.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  I will come back to these questions.  Let's go back to the capital plan.  Instead of talking about the specific programs, let's go back to the overall capital plan.

If we go to page 55 -- sorry, 56 of the compendium where you talk about the asset management overview.  If we go to the top, this is how you describe it.  You say:
"Section D of the Distribution System Plan details Toronto Hydro's asset management process, which is a systematic approach that the utility uses."


Then it explains what it uses.  Do you see that?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I have seen the language "systematic approach" in a bunch of the IRs.  So I take it that you consider the capital planning process that led to the proposed application, a systematic approach to planning?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But as I understand the evidence, you actually have no single process to determine how to allocate capital budgets to various capital programs or within capital programs or what projects or assets you are going to replace.  It is a number of different things.  Correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  The process that we would use would follow the diagram that you showed me earlier this morning.  I am just going to try and leaf through your compendium and see if I can identify it.

MR. KEIZER:  It is actually page 27 of the compendium.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.  So it would be page 27.  And that would be the process that we would use.  And then there is another diagram in the evidence, if I can identify it for you, which is in Exhibit 2B, section E2, page 2 -- actually, I am just noticing here it is on page 30 of your compendium.

So the systematic approach that we use is described in those two diagrams.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So if we turn to page 27 -- let's use that table here -- you have no central methodology to determine how you are going to prioritize spending or which assets need to be replaced across the various programs, be it -- and you have to allocate between over ground or -- underground or overhead or downtown or horseshoe or system renewal or system service.

You have no systematic process to determine what the final -- how to do that.  Correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  No.  I think the evidence would show that we do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, let's use an example at paragraph -- in your response at page 60 of the compendium.  So you were -- this is your response to Staff 67.  You were asked essentially:

"Part E:  Please explain how asset condition assessment, predictive failure modelling, historic reliability analysis, economic risk-based analysis interact in terms of determining how to direct capital expenditures."

Do you see that?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And your response you provide is an example, in the second paragraph in E:

"For example, during the investment planning and portfolio reporting process a plan responsible for station renewal will utilize all the aforementioned tools but may choose to place incremental weight on predictive failure modelling, while a planner responsible for overhead system renewal may choose to place incremental weight on historical reliability analysis or economic risk-based analysis when developing a portfolio and program capital expenditures proposal."

Do you see that?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So different planners looking at different assets will utilize different tools depending on their judgment?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Every program has its specific nuances, specific needs that need to be assessed, different weights that need to be applied.

So when we are initially proposing expenditure levels at the program level, and actually more granular than that, in fact, at the segment level, this is describing the general approach that the planner would take.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so, for example, in the system renewal category here, it says they will utilize -- sorry, it says that with respect to system renewal, they will utilize all the aforementioned tools but may choose to place incremental weight on certain tools.  Correct?  Do you see that?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is there a document that says they should, based on this asset, that every planner must or should look at this tool and give it this weight and this other tool and give it another weight?  Or is it just the planner will look at it?  This planner may look at it one way, another planner may look at it another way?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Perhaps I can take a step back and explain exactly how we go about optimizing our programs and making decisions.

So we started off this dialogue at page 27 of your compendium, and that is the asset management process.  We talked this morning about step 1 within that process, which is the investment planning and portfolio reporting process.

We spoke this morning, and you asked me the question, Mr. Rubenstein, about where are we with respect to this -- to this particular distribution system plan?  And I mentioned that the Distribution System Plan is rooted in the portfolio plan that came out at that first stage of the asset management process.

So at that stage, for every single one of our programs, a planner who is assigned to oversee that program would have identified multiple levels of expenditure to address the needs that they have assessed in that program.

Those multiple levels of expenditure went through a series of reviews with senior management, and ultimately they led to the initial plan that Toronto Hydro began with, and that initial plan -- and now I will direct you to page 30 of your compendium -- and you see at the bottom of the diagram that is on the screen right now, which is at page 30 of your compendium, you will see at the very bottom the asset management process outputs.  Those are the outputs that I have just described.  They fed into the financial planning, so that is how we began this process, and this is a systematic approach that we have used.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But there's still no uniform approach in determining between programs where Toronto Hydro should essentially spend its money?

We're reducing risk.  We're measuring risk across programs, and we know if we spend more money in underground versus overhead we are getting greater reduction.  There is no methodology -- there is no single methodology that does that.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Well, we assess all of the inputs that would go into the methodology, and we have spoken this morning about asset condition assessments, economic risk, PCBs, oil leaks, all of the outcomes that we have identified.

So we do identify for each of the programs how those programs contribute to outcomes through all of our reviews that we've done, and there are numerous reviews as we have gone through this process and as we moved from the initial to the penultimate to the final plan, keeping in mind, of course, throughout, right from the beginning, customer engagement and input that we've received from customers, we then made decisions to optimize the program after reviewing all of those.

If you are asking me is there a single algorithm that we drive things through to drive that, there isn't, simply because of the very diverse nature of all the needs that the programs are meeting.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  How do you know, if the Board said we're going to reduce your capital budget by 5 percent, I'm saying a number, how would you know what to reduce?  How would you make that decision?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  What we would do is we would step back and, as we do every year, we would work through the investment planning and portfolio reporting process.  We would have the Board input as sort of a high-level strategic parameter that we would need to meet, a constraint.  And we would work through the entire process and make decisions about which programs would be allocated to what dollars.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And how would you do that?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  We would do it the same way that I've just described.  We would run our investment plan and portfolio reporting process.  For each one of our programs our planners would identify different investment alternatives.  We would go through the same process that we do annually, which is to review, to go through a series of senior management reviews.  We would run through exactly this.  It would feed into our operational and financial planning, and we would ultimately make a decision as to how best to do that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  How would you, for example, demonstrate that, say, just using an example here, that you reduce, for example, underground horseshoe -- we were just talking about it -- by a certain amount?  How would you demonstrate that that is what you should reduce, as opposed to many of the other programs?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  How would we demonstrate that that program --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  So the -- and we can take a specific program, for example.  Let's take the -- we can take the underground circuit renewal program we have been speaking about this morning.  We would identify the needs that that program has, whether it be on the basis of condition, whether it be on the basis of their contribution to reliability, whether it is on the basis of their contribution to environmental measures, such as oil leaks with PCBs.

For each of the alternatives, we would identify how it would contribute to each of those measures, and we do have a number of measures that are on the record right now.  We would identify how those contributions would occur. And then we would make trade-offs between programs.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So the Board has seen in other rate cases of different utilities they have systems where it takes in a bunch of inputs to determine a risk analysis that, say, determines the probability of failure of a given asset; asset age, asset condition, and others.

Also it looks at the flip side, what the magnitude of that failure would be to determine a score.  And it is able then to prioritize spending between different programs that are doing different things, managing different assets.

You don't actually have such a system, correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  If you are referring to systems such as Copperleaf or PowerPlan, we don't necessarily have systems like that.  We have looked at them, and our determination is that our process is as effective, if not more effective than those systems.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But you can't measure risk across assets in the same way.  Different planners are using tools and their judgment, I guess, to determine the risk of a failure and the magnitude of that.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  We can do that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  With a numerical number, I guess you don't have?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Well, we can take, for example, a specific indicator.  Let's call it oil leaks with PCBs.

What we can do is we can say that our overhead system is contributing so many you know, or so much to that particular measure.  Our underground system is contributing so much to that measure.  Our network system is contributing so much to that measure.

So along that measure, we can very specifically identify, and we do in fact identify how they're contributing to a particular measure.  And we do that for a number of our measures.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But then you don't combine the measures.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  We don't combine them, no, because what our experience has been, having a very diverse system such as ours, half the system is overhead, half the system is underground.

We've got a network system.  We are probably the only utility in Canada that that has a network system that is the size of ours.

We have stations assets.  They're all very, very different assets. So what we’ve found is when we have attempted to try to combine them together, it is really, you know, in form appears to be something that looks good, but in substance really fails us.

So what we have identified is the particular approach that we have is far more effective than a system that runs things through an algorithm.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we turn to page 63 of the compendium, this is on your original evidence, you do some of the language -- and I think this is what you have talked about.  This is at D3-2-1, and you talk about probability of failure and consequence of failure.  Correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But there is no mathematical number that multiplies the probability of failure times the consequence of failure?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  We do -- times the consequence of failure?  What we do is, again within sort of the specific measure, the specific outcome that we are looking to manage, we can do that analysis.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But individually.  But over all there is no traditional or -- I won't say traditional.  There is no risk analysis that does probability times consequence.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  The economic risk base does do that, yes.  And that is one of those many, many indicators that I have made reference to.  I use the oil leaks with PCBs.  We can do that exact same analysis using our economic risk base analysis which does that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, that is one tool.  But that takes into account certain inputs, but not other inputs, correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So using all of the inputs, you don't have a probability times consequence of failure?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Well, within the economic risk base, what we do is we say probability of failure of a particular asset times consequence.  In that particular case, we're doing it with respect to economic indicators.

You know, we can do that similarly with PCBs or something else.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, but it is only an economic in the ...

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  I think if what you are asking for me to do is to compare, you know, oil leaks to connecting customers on time, which are very, very different things, if you are asking me to compare those two things in a model that is simply just, you know, adds weights which is something akin to what some of these systems you alluded to, we simply don't see that as an effective approach.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  For example, for consequences of failure, the example on page 68, you have a number of different things that you look at.  That’s sort of an overall level.

From page 68 of the compendium going forward, you have customer reliability.  Then you have environment on page 70, and safety and public policy and financial.

These are the various consequences of failure that you consider, correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  These would be examples of the consequences.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So how would you compare safety versus environment?  In a trade off?  Are you able to -- how would you do that?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  What we do have is we have a corporate risk matrix that would inform how to do that trade off, and we would layer on top of that professional judgment.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let me ask you about the last proceeding.  The Board reduced your service additions by 10 percent.

What was the framework that you used to determine how you were going to allocate the reductions?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  If you’ll bear with me, I believe there is an interrogatory response that asks something similar to this.  I am just going to see if I can pull it up.

[Witness panel confers]

MS. CIPOLLA:  To address your question on the 10 percent cut, when we applied it, we applied it to calculate the capital revenue requirement, and so the calculation was then taken.

Once that capital revenue requirement was determined, we then determined and executed out through the capital program and did our normal business planning process to effectively determine what programs in consideration of what the plan was in front of the Board for our previous application, and ensured that we effectively executed against that plan.  And we effectively executed against the, all of those investments through the execution of that plan, and we re-casted out a plan with that new revenue requirement.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Ultimately, the revenue requirement, from your perspective, equals dollars you can't -- less dollars to spend on capital, correct, in the plan that you were seeking?

MS. CIPOLLA:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So my question then is, walk me through and like -- I don't mean at a granular level.  Just help me understand how you determine to reflect those reductions in the capital plan.  Because you spent less money than you were allowed, you obviously made those reductions.

But I am trying to understand how you determined how you were going to do that.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Certainly.  What Ms. Cipolla was referring to was actually the process I spoke about a few minutes ago.

We went through our normal course asset management investment planning, business planning processes that we do.  And the interrogatory that I was looking for is actually 2B-SEC-49.  We could bring it up, but it basically summarizes exactly what I just told you.

So we went through our general processes and as we went through that, we identified different alternatives for spending levels.  We went through the reviews that I just spoke about.  We identified how expenditures would impact some of the outcomes and some of our measures, and we ultimately made decisions.

I can speak specifically to, you know, very particular programs if you would like, Mr. Rubenstein.  I can speak to the fact, for example, that at the time of the decision, what we were noticing was significant increases in our reactive capital.  The number of deficiencies was going up.  That was a program that many, many ways is non-discretionary for us.  So we identified and sort of filled up the first X million dollars of the plan to address those needs.

Then what we were identifying was needs to address reliability situations, and I can walk you through specifically how we did that with the overhead system renewal program.

So we sort of walked through the entire program that we have done, looked at our options and how they influenced the outcomes, and we made decisions.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But there is no systematic way where you decided, we're going to spend -- we're going to replace X amount less of this versus, you know, X amount of Y, between programs.  It was just, you looked at different tools and you used your judgment.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  I think what I mentioned was we do have a systematic approach.  I explained our systematic approach.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let me ask you about one of the tools that you were talking about, and you talk about this at page 70 of the compendium, and this is the economic risk-based analysis that you undertake.  And it is in the customer reliability section.  And you say:

"Toronto Hydro utilizes a customer interruption cost which represent a measure of momentary losses for customers due to the interruption of economic services."

Then you use that --

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Mr. Rubenstein, are you at page 70 of --

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.  I am reading from the top.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Oh, yes.  My apologies.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you use that as an input into your economic risk-based analysis.  Do I have that correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, CIC's our input into our economic responses --

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the CICs, as I understand it, value an interruption to a customer, correct, it puts a dollar figure on what an hour of interruption or an interruption event is.  Correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.  It does do that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So it is an important input, obviously, into the economic risk-based analysis, correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we turn to page -- this is from the last application -- one of the things you were proposing you put before the Board was capital expenditures related to program support.  Correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And two of those programs were the climate adaptation study and a customer interruption cost study.  Correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you explain the reason for these expenditures.  You say:

"The proposed program support expenditures will allow for continued refinement and improvement to the development of capital projects within the five-year period, along with future development of capital programs from 2020 and beyond through execution of two key supports, the climate adaptation and the customer interruption cost study."

Correct?  Do you see that?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.  Starting at line 7?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So my understanding is you wanted them to do them early so you could use them to support the capital plan beginning in 2020.  Correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  At the time that was the plan.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we go to page 92 of the compendium, you see you were going to do the CIC study in 2015 and the adaptation in 2015 and 2016, correct?  That was the plan?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.  That was the plan.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So if we turn to page 95, your response at 2B SEC 32, the short of the interrogatory is you haven't done -- it's not done yet.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So it's not an input -- so because it is not done you could not use it as an input into your economic risk-based analysis, the update, correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Let me take a step back and explain the background associated with the CIC costs --

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  One second.  Well, just if you could first answer my question.  Because it is not done you can't use the updated information as an input into the economic risk analysis for the purpose of this application.  Correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Well, the economic risk-based analysis has a CIC cost within it.  The study was meant to refine it and improve upon that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So you can't use the refinement because you didn't -- the study was not done in time.  Correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  No.  We don't have an improvement over what was in place at the time of the 2015 to 2019 program.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  My memory is a bit -- I was involved in that last case, but I don't recall.  My recollection is the numbers that you have used for that study were based on -- they're not Toronto Hydro-specific, and I believe they relate -- I may be incorrect, but they relate to some studies that were done years previous to even then.  Correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So the economic risk-based analysis that you have used in terms of this application would still be those non-Toronto Hydro-specific, I guess old, but, you know, not relevant to the environment that Toronto Hydro faced.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  I think it would be important for me to step back and explain why we haven't done the study as we initially planned.

You drew our attention to feedback that the Board provided us in our last decision.  Some of the feedback that we received in that last decision is, although the Board saw the economic risk-based analysis as valuable, they felt that there was not a direct link to customers and to outcomes.

In that decision we also received feedback about improvements for our asset condition assessment, which is one of the things that you identified this morning.  We also received feedback on unit costs, and as a result what we did was we deprioritized this particular study, given the feedback that we received from the Board.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So the Board didn't say:  Do a new asset condition assessment.  I took the Board -- I think what the Board said was:  Use the condition information more.  Correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, and we have placed additional emphasis on that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, you have done a new asset condition assessment.  You prioritized that over the CIC study.  Correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, I understand the costing of the capital budget or more specifically what I would call the programs that have repeatable or -- they're not made up of very large, like, station work, but, you know, overhead or underground, where there is lots of different assets that are being replaced, how you have determined the budget for 2020 to 2024 is you're escalating the unit costs in 2019 by 2 percent each year.  Correct?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. CIPOLLA:  Yes.  That's an element of it.  But what we first did was stratify the capital program based on projects that we specifically isolated out, and we had a specific inflationary amount to that, and programs for which we had specific contractor prices for.  Once those were segregated out the remaining capital balance was applied at a 2 percent increase.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So if we go to page 98, this is a response with respect to underground infrastructure.  You can see on that table you provided a unit cost for the major units within the underground program.  So cable transformer and pad-mount switches.

If you read the note there for 2020, you say:2020 forecast was based on 2015 to '17 average and escalated to 2020 dollars using 2 percent escalation per year.  2021 to 2024 forecasts, which are not shown in the table, were developed using the same escalation."

It seems to me that, at least how I read this response in the question was, essentially you determine the unit costs.  Then you multiply 2020, 2 percent, that is the escalator you are using.

Just to clarify, the question was:

"Toronto Hydro states that its 2020 to 2024 underground circuit renewal budget is based on historical unit cost trends."

Essentially you were asked to show those.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So that is how they were developed?  Can I ask how that differs or clarifies the explanation that was previously made?

MS. CIPOLLA:  So the stratification, the first part of it was for major projects, so the major projects were only two that we stratified for.  The first was for the control room.  And the second was specifically in relation to Copeland, and then phase 2, and then what the remaining part of it was for the specific contractors.

So the calculation of this particular interrogatory speaks to the 2 percent.  So that is how these ones in particular.  But the remaining program, the remaining program had contractor escalations specific to it, but it didn't impact this interrogatory.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So this is -- so for underground, say, horseshoe program, this is not actually reflective of the unit costs that you are forecast -- that are built into the budget for 2020?  It is not 2 percent.  It may be depending on what the escalation of different contractors is?

MR. TAKI:  It is reflective of the costs in the underground program, and the paragraph just after that table describes that.

I will wait for it.  There it is on the screen.

So I will just read what it says:
"The forecasted costs were directly influenced by unit costs contained in the table, as these were used to estimate the aggregate cost associated with installing cable, transformers and switches.  In addition to the aggregate costs for cable, transformers and switches, estimated costs for civil elements and other equipment were added to arrive at the overall forecasts."


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And it’s that last part that you’re using, I guess, more specific contractor-based escalations?

MR. TAKI:  You are asking about the civil and other equipment?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Maybe I am not understanding.  So as I understand the program, the underground horseshoe, you are generally replacing cables, transformers and switches.  I recognize there are different types of each of those assets.

I am just trying to understand how you built the budget, right.  So you have a number of assets you are replacing.  And as I understand -- at least as I thought I understood, you essentially escalated it by 2 percent.

I understand there may be some other elements that are not contained within cables, transformers, and pad-mount switches that also are part of that.  Is that what you are getting more specific cost estimates from contractors that are maybe higher or lower, but not 2 percent, or maybe 2 percent.  Do I have that right?

MS. CIPOLLA:  Yes, you have that correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay, thank you very much.  Have you built into the budgets any amounts with respect to productivity that you plan to do, or other improvements such as that?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, Mr. Rubenstein, we have.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So can I ask -- you were asked on page 103 -- this is the response to CCC interrogatory 14.  You were asked if you were able to quantify those savings, and you weren't able to.  Correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Can you draw my attention to a specific ...

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Line 12:
"At this time, Toronto Hydro is unable to quantify these estimates of cost savings of the planned initiatives."


And you talked about the planned initiatives.
"Part of continuous improvement throughout the period, Toronto Hydro intends to evaluate operational efficiencies gained, as well as reduce avoided costs."


I am trying to understand.  Did you build into the budget the cost savings?  I take it that if you can't measure it, how can you build it in?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  We certainly built it into the budget.  Perhaps what I can do is I can draw your attention to -- well, every single one of our, for example, OM&A programs, you will see within there a specific section that talks to cost control and productivity.

I can draw your attention to very specific programs if you would like, specifically where we have factored in productivity improvements that are reducing the budget in 2020.

So we did take into consideration productivity improvements within the budgets that are outlined throughout our distribution system plan and in our OM&A evidence.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let's focus on capital.  If you are unable to quantify what those savings are, how can you demonstrate that you have built them into the budgets?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. CIPOLLA:  As we've discussed on page 103 of your compendium, on lines 15 through 21, we speak to the framework and specifically incorporating the productivity factors through the custom stretch factor of the CPCI, and that has been incorporated as through the calculation.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So that’s saying you are accounting for it in the context of the stretch factor.  I understand that.

But I am asking in the base budgets, which come before you do the stretch factor, have you built in any productivity improvements?

MS. CIPOLLA:  What I would speak to is our business planning process, and specifically the activity we did around the programs.

One of the key elements that Mr. Lyberogiannis walked you through was what we did when we were designing through our capital program.

Part of that process was working with our business unit leaders as they developed each of the programs, and the elements of that included understanding the scope of the work, understanding the need, how it related back to our customer needs, how it tied back to the outcomes framework that we spoke to in those six categories, and what element in there was about productivity and how were you going to achieve productivity.

And then in addition to that, we looked at external factors and other considerations, and risks.

So productivity was ingrained in our entire process around how we looked at each of those programs, and we looked at sort of a historical look back around considerations of the actual execution of the program.

So it was ingrained within our whole process around how to execute productivity through that, and then in addition to that review of that program, there was obviously, as I noted, the consideration of the capital stretch.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Essentially you have costed the program by, as we were talking about, generally 2 percent escalators per year.

Where is the productivity?  How are you building in the productivity?

MS. CIPOLLA:  I think the key points I would make to that is our costs are higher than that inflationary rate.  We talk about, in one of the responses to the interrogatory, in the city of Toronto specifically inflation is at 2.2 percent.

Yes, specifically to some of the capital programs we are at 2 percent.  But costs are increasing greater than that in some of our areas.

So we have actually been able to maintain and reduce down our budget to stay within those parameters and have cost containment, although we see increases greater than 2 percent in many areas.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is there somewhere in the evidence where you are showing what your actual -- if the 2 percent isn't actually not reflective of what a base cost estimate increase -- budget increase is.  Is there somewhere in the evidence where you are showing what you actually expect rates to increase, or escalation to actually be without productivity improvements?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. TRGACHEF:  Mr. Rubenstein, if I can refer you to JTC4.30, here we talk about average escalation and third party contractor unit prices versus inflation.

So what we do is, as part of our benchmarking, and factored into our 2 percent inflation rate and also our existing unit pricing, is compare the cost, the annual increase inflation index benchmarks against what we factored into our budget.

So into that 2 percent and into the contractor pricing that we included in our forecast would include productivity measures that have been achieved through our negotiations  with our third party contractors.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Just to be clear, I think you have provided some third-party-contractor unit price, I guess these are external -- it comes from an external source, obviously.  It is not reflective of what you expect based on your contractor contracts, correct?

MR. TRGACHEF:  These are benchmark indices.  We do have our inflationary unit costing that we would have incorporated into our budgets.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So --


MR. TRGACHEF:  Or contract unit pricing.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Where did the 2 percent come from, I guess?  First, I see average annual contractor unit price escalation of 1.5 percent, so it is less than 2 percent.

MR. TRGACHEF:  In the rate period from 2015-2018, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is there a forecast anywhere in the evidence that shows, without productivity improvements -- that you can't quantify per CCC 14 -- what would the actual -- what our budgets need to be to do the same amount of work?

MS. CIPOLLA:  Can you bear with us?  We are just pulling up an interrogatory.

[Witness panel confers]

MS. CIPOLLA:  Unfortunately, I couldn't find the exact reference, but what I wanted to take you to was specifically the city of Toronto inflationary rate of 2.2 percent that is forecasted.  So even within there, we're already discounting down our costs down to 2 percent, so that is one element of it.

Then throughout our application we speak to the productivity considerations that were taken, and as we have described in the pre-filed evidence, we have incorporated that into our entire business planning process to ensure that projects are being budgeted and projected through with productivity incorporated.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we can't estimate, quantify the estimates of cost savings of planned initiatives per CCC 14, when we're back in 2025, how are we going to know if you've achieved those cost savings based on those productivity initiatives?

MS. CIPOLLA:  What I would speak to on that is I think you would look at our ability to execute our program, and you would look at the ability to meet the program that was approved by of the Board and our ability to execute that in the context.

So, you know, what I would speak to even in our current application is the fact that within our funding that was approved we executed through the program while we had increased cost considerations that have come through and we maintained through that.

So we specifically execute that, and the way you do that is through, you know, having the consideration on the stretch, but our ability to maintain our execution of the plan within the funding approved, and then effectively you can speak to that in the fact that we were able to get our in-service additions within 1 percent of the approved amount in this application.

And we have effectively executed against all of the investments that were in the original plan from 2015 to 2019.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  There is going to be no way for us granularly to say, you are doing this new initiative, it is supposed to save X amount of money that you built into your budget, and you did that, because we don't have the numbers on the front end.

If you don't have the numbers on the front end I assume you can't track it on the back end.  Correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  I think, Mr. Rubenstein, as I was mentioning, throughout everything that we do, productivity is a consideration, and like I said, on the OM&A side, we have identified cost-control measures.  Many of those are related to what we're doing on the capital side of the program.

At the high level, when you asked the question about how can we track and how can we assess whether Toronto Hydro is being productive, I wanted to draw your attention to one of our custom performance scorecard measures, actually two of our custom performance scorecard measures, which are unit cost measures, and there is information on record as to how those unit costs have trended in recent years, and we will proceed to continue to monitor those measures and report on those measures.

So that is another avenue that can be used to assess the productivity of the organization on the capital side of the business.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You mentioned that your productivity is built into the company and everything you do.  I understand that.

But how does this Board know that you've -- all of that work is producing sufficient productivity for the purposes of the 2020 to 2024 plan?

MS. COBAN:  Mr. Rubenstein, I am going to interject, because I think we've tried our best in this panel to assist you with this line of questioning, but I think we're getting at questions that really go to the heart of the rate framework that the Board approved in our last application and that the Board is considering in this application, and those questions are best addressed to the witnesses on panel 3.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I am not sure I agree with that.  I will leave it.  I am not sure I agree, but I will move on.

If I could ask you to turn to page 115.  This is the PSE total cost benchmarking information, correct?  This is their results, your expert?  Correct?  That is what this is?  I want to make sure we're looking at the right thing.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Page 115 is the PSE study I am seeing.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And what it shows is your actual and forecast costs based on the PSE analysis versus the benchmark shows that you are getting -- compared to the benchmark you are getting worse every year.  Do you see that?  Performance is getting worse.  That is what I see, correct?

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, are you asking this panel to interpret the results of this study?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, it is not their study, so wouldn't that be best left to the panel --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  We'll have details.  I am trying to understand the context of the capital plan.

MR. KEIZER:  Then ask about the capital plan, not about the study.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, if I can take you to page 32 of our compendium.  This is back on page 31 where you are talking about developing strategic parameters and the considerations.  The second-to-last bullet point on page 32 is total cost benchmarking.  Correct?  That is what it says?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, that is what that bullet says.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So I think having a general sense of that seems relevant to the capital planning, because you talk about incorporating that into the strategic parameters of the capital plan.  So I do think it is relevant.  I am not getting into a lot of the details about how it is calculated and all that.  That is for later.

But I think understanding the -- asking questions about what the output is I think is relevant to this panel.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, if you are asking me to respond, if you are asking about total cost benchmarking in the context of business planning, then that's fine.  If you are asking about total cost benchmarking, how it is derived, and the nuances of the numbers within the report, then I think that is something better left for the experts that are related to those reports.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I am not asking about the nuance.  I am just -- the basic, as I read from the summary table, shows compared to the benchmark from 2018 to 2024 your performance is getting worse.

Is that a fair reading from the table?  You started at negative 12.7 percent and you are finishing at negative 2.6 percent.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  I think, Mr. Rubenstein, if you are specifically asking for what this particular table is indicating, then it would be a question better asked to panel 3, I believe.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So you can't answer that just on the face of the document, what it says?

MR. KEIZER:  I think you are asking him to interpret the results.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, let me ask you this.  Did you take into account the results of the PSE total cost benchmarking when you set the strategic parameters?  How did that factor into the capital plan, I guess is my question.

[Witness panel confers]

MS. CIPOLLA:  Yes, it was one of the things that we considered as part of business planning in the consideration of the plan.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  How?

MS. CIPOLLA:  When we assessed it, we went through the consideration of the cost and our implications around that and specifically assessed our performance to it.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So on the face of it, my interpretation, performance is getting worse.  Is that not how you interpret it for the purposes of setting the strategic parameters?

MS. CIPOLLA:  No.  I can't specifically speak to this table or the calculation of these numbers, and the subset of what those numbers were in relation to this table.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So when you talk about you considered total cost benchmarking, I'm confused.

If you can't interpret the results of the work that you did, your expert did and you commissioned, how did you incorporate that into the capital planning process?

MS. CIPOLLA:  When we look at our overall cost, we take a consideration around the overall conclusions of the report and our consideration around how we would incorporate that through our plan, so our ability to consider cost containment around the program.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What conclusions did you derive?  You said we took the conclusions of the report.

So how did you interpret the report, I guess, to do that?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Can you just give us a moment, Mr. Rubenstein?   Unfortunately, my compendium has broken open and I am just trying to find a reference.

[Mr. Keizer gives Mr. Lyberogiannis compendium]

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  So, Mr. Rubenstein, I will take you back to page 31 of your compendium.  This is where we speak about the number of inputs that went into the strategic parameters.

You will notice from that list and beginning at the top is customer needs and preferences.  We continue on to look at system performance and yes, at the bottom of that, is total cost benchmarking.

So total cost benchmarking is telling us that Toronto Hydro -- in fact, it is written right on page 115 of your compendium as well, that during the most recent historical period, Toronto Hydro's costs are below the benchmark values.  So we can confirm that.

Now, ultimately what we did was in light of that information, we tried to balance each and every one of these inputs.

So what would it mean if we looked to become more competitive with respect to total costs?  What would it mean for system performance, what would it mean for reliability?

We spoke this morning about the fact that the plan that we have in place is only going to maintain SAIDI and SAIFI performance.

If we talk specifically about our customer needs, and the preferences that they have articulated to us, they're telling us that at a minimum they want us to maintain performance, and what they would like us to do is improve performance in areas that are below average.

So what happens is we have to take all of that information into consideration in totality and yes, the PSE benchmarking study is showing us to be poor when it comes to total cost.  But that is just one of, on this particular page, ten or twelve bullets and inputs we took into consideration.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  When you received the PSE draft or information, I don't mean necessarily the final report, did that impact the capital plan?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. CIPOLLA:  As Mr. Lyberogiannis noted, we considered it as an element of all of the balances that we were doing.  So when we were considering the specifics of those costs, we were trying to balance them out, and when we looked at the specific programs and the considerations around that, trying to balance-off cost containment within specific programs.

So it was an element of that and I think specific to those specific cost drivers, I think it is better handled by panel 3.  Outside that, we did take it as an indication around our ability to continue to cost contain.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, from the capital -- my question is really specific to capital planning and the program that you are putting before the Board.

Whenever you got the results of either this or an early version of the PSE report, or using other numbers, I don't know, did you end up changing the capital plan as a result of running total cost benchmarking information, either on this plan or some previous version of the plan?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Again, Mr. Rubenstein, it was an input from a capital planning investment planning perspective.  The needs that we identified and what we heard from customers exceeded even what we're proposing here.

So it wasn't that we made adjustments as a result of some of the information specifically.  You know, specifically about what this information means, I think it is best for panel 3 to speak to that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  We are close to lunch so ...

MS. ANDERSON:  It sounds like the right time to take our one-hour lunch break, so we will be back at 2 o'clock.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:55 p.m.
--- On resuming at 2:09 p.m.

MS. ANDERSON:  Please be seated.

Okay.  We are back.  And Mr. Rubenstein is still up, but I believe that Toronto is going to come back after lunch related to Table 7?

MR. KEIZER:  Yes.  My understanding is that there's some additional work that needs to be done to be able to correct the numbers in Table 7.  I had a discussion with Mr. Rubenstein at the break, and he has -- he may have cross-examination on that particular table.  And so the question will be whether or not we end up doing an undertaking with respect to -- we'll obviously correct the table.  The question is how far he can get with that today, or what scope of the undertaking is that we will provide in terms of the correction, but we certainly will be undertaking to correct the table.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  So we might as well have a formal undertaking for that, Mr. Millar.  Correct Table 7
-- I know it was page 7 of your -- 47, 47 of your compendium.  I don't think -- we don't know the reference in the evidence.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  This is Exhibit 2B, section E6.2, page 47, Table 7.

MR. MILLAR:  And that's J1.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.4:  TO UPDATE AND REFILE THE TABLE 7 AT PAGE 47 OF EXHIBIT K1.1.

MS. ANDERSON:  And so the undertaking is to refile.

MR. KEIZER:  Update the table.

MS. ANDERSON:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  And the other element is that it is my understanding that one of the witnesses, I believe Ms. Narisetty, has a clarification to an answer that she gave this morning.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry.  Before we get there, can we just deal with that Table 7 issue first before the clarification?

The problem I have is I have a number of questions on this table as well as tables like it that are similar. And in fairness to my friends, I obviously want to be able to put questions to them so it is not showing up in argument and they won't have a chance if there is some explanation that is not obvious to me or something.

So I guess my question is, can Hydro One also confirm --


MS. ANDERSON:  Toronto Hydro.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I apologize.

[Laughter]

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Toronto Hydro, can you confirm that, for example, is Table 8 also -- so this is -- would switch -- this is a switch gear.  It is essentially the same table with the switch gear assets for underground.  Is there a similar issue going to be there?  Or is it only the underground transformers that there is an error or an issue?

MR. TAKI:  The issue also applies to Table 8.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you have these tables throughout the evidence for all of the -- for a lot of the programs.  It is a central -- I would -- at least from my perspective it is a central component of the case in every single one of the -- for most of the programs that are, I guess, repetitive-type asset replacement work.  And is there going to be similar issues with those tables as well?

MR. TAKI:  Is your question about, does it impact all of the programs?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, there are similar tables to Table 7 and Table 8.  This is with respect to underground.  But this exists in a bunch of other programs.

There are similar-type tables showing the 2017 health index versus a projection in 2024.  And I want to know, are there also errors in those as well?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Mr. Rubenstein, what we can do is we can take that back and have a look to see if there are any others.

At this point I think it is just restricted to this particular program, but we can have a look and confirm that for you.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.

MS. ANDERSON:  So the undertaking should reflect that it is Table 7 and 8 and includes looking at all of the other tables to see whether or not there is any -- any further errors.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So what I would propose then -- at least with respect to these tables and this issue -- that this part of my cross-examination I can defer to some other point in this panel.  It is supposed to go on for a couple of days.

MS. ANDERSON:  So how long do you think that undertaking will take, just for the sake of, if we are going to redo the hearing plan?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  So specifically to Tables 7 and 8 we should be able to turn that around relatively quickly.  The broader review might take a little bit more time, but what we might endeavour to do is provide you these particular tables as quickly as we can and potentially by tomorrow.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  If anyone else was planning to refer to them and you are on the list, then perhaps you can talk to Staff about the hearing plan and we will try and make -- arrange it so that we have the updated information before those questions come up.

MR. KEIZER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. ANDERSON:  Yes.  Carry on.

MR. KEIZER:  Yes, the clarification.

MS. NARISETTY:  Yes.  So I wanted to make a clarification regarding a question that was posed to me earlier.  I had a chance to think about it further and also consult with my team.

So the Kinectrics ACM methodology does also use H as an input in addition to the condition information.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  In your last application you proposed a number of DSP-specific metrics.  Do I have that correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we turn to page 116 of the compendium, there is a table showing what those metrics were.  Correct?  Do you see that?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the middle column has ones that
-- with respect to cost efficiency, effectiveness of planning, and implementation metrics.  Do you see that?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, I do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And with respect to the non-distribution system implementation progress metric, you are not proposing any of these other four metrics to continue into this plan, correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  We are not, no.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we turn to page 119, this is evidence from the last proceeding where you were explaining one of the metrics that I want to talk about.  This is the planning, engineering support efficiency metric.

And as I understand what the metric is, it is a measure of planning, engineering, and support costs over total capital expenditures?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  The denominator in that calculation is distribution planned capital.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So where it says total capital -- sorry, maybe I am -- as I read the equation, it is capital planning, engineering, support spend, so I assume what you are spending in those years in any given year over the period divided by the total capital spend.

Is there a distinction between what I am saying and what you're saying that I didn't understand?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  So in the same formula, in brackets it says DX plant.  So it is a subset of the, like, the capital spend.  So it wouldn't be the total capital spend.  Just that clarification.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  I understand that.

So if we go to page 121, this is also from that -- the trend coming into 2013, which was the last year you had provided information at the time of the filing of the previous application, you were trending downwards.  Correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.  Figure 9 shows that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So you were becoming more efficient with respect to the planning and support costs, correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You see that you are at 13.1 percent in 2008 and the last year there you were at 7.1 percent, correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we go to page 124 -- this is from your current application -- the trend has gone in the other direction.  You see that 2013 that we were talking about.  But now we are at about, I believe it is 9 percent in 2017.  Correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we turn to page 25, this is from the U-update, starting at line 10, you mention how -- you're saying that the 2018 number is at 10 percent, correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Sorry, Mr. Rubenstein?  Is it page 125 of the compendium?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Line 10?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Beginning at lines 10 through 13, what it is telling us is that the 2018 numbers came in at 10 percent?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So higher than the 2017 amount?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So you have become less efficient in planning through the last custom IR term, based on your planning efficiency metric that you proposed?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  What has occurred over the current planning period is we've made certain investments in our engineering and support areas, which have caused the trend to increase.

You will recall, Mr. Rubenstein, that during our last rate application, there were a couple of topics that received, I guess, considerable scrutiny.  One of those was the topic of our high-level estimates and the need to obtain more refined estimates at the scope level.

So what we've done over the last five years is invested in our project development group.  We spoke about this at the technical conference.  So that investment has caused some increases.

We've also invested in a couple of other areas as well, notably our program management area and our operating area which contribute to these costs.

So ultimately this is why the trend has gone up.  It is -- this is a very high level indicator of efficiency, but what we've decided to do in this particular area is focus in on effectiveness.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So going forward in the 2020-2024 term, is the budget that underlies the application, is it reflective of 9, 10 percent support costs?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. CIPOLLA:  Yes, the budgets are reflective in that same manner.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now we are at 10 percent.  It's going to stay at 9, 10 percent.  It is going to stay like that?  There will be no more efficiencies of productivity in this area?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  At a high level, we expect it to be in that range.

The improvements that we have made, whether they be in the project development space or in the program management space, we expect to sustain those improvements which are resulting in engineering support costs that would align with what you see here.

However, if you were to look at some of our program evidence, and we spoke this morning about cost control and productivity, if you were to look for example at our asset and program management program, one of the cost control elements that we have identified there is the rollout of engineering analytics tools, which are expected to result in some savings.  Those are considered and baked into our plan.

But I guess in a nutshell, we expect to be roughly in this area, with continued emphasis on productivity initiatives, such as the analytics engineering one.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I am going to ask you to turn to page 128.  This is your 2019 corporate scorecard, correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So this, I guess, is what the company looks at with respect to corporate performance at a high level?

MS. CIPOLLA:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And can you show me which of the metrics in 2019 talk about efficiency or productivity?

MS. COBAN:  Mr. Rubenstein, this particular IR has been mapped to panel 3 in the exhibit that we marked at the outset of this day.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let me rephrase my question.  With respect to capital efficiency or productivity, are there any?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. CIPOLLA:  As we've noted throughout the capital plan, yes, it does include capital productivity specific in the 5-year CIR distribution plant.

And effectively, as we have discussed, there is productivity that is incorporated within the plan.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, my understanding is the 5-year CIR distribution system plan metric is -- it is a measure of dollars, did you spend a certain amount of dollars.  It doesn't tell us if you spent the money effectively, if it was done productively, correct?

MS. CIPOLLA:  No, I believe that it does in the context that the way in which we operate our plan is, as we have noted previously, continuously using productivity initiatives throughout the execution of our plan.

And our ability to exercise that comes through in our negotiation with our contractors, it comes through in the consideration of our cost containment on materials and other considerations.

And so that is effectively being captured in our ability to execute our plan efficiently and prudently.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But the metric is just dollars.  So it doesn't know if you spent -- just as a hypothetical a simple example, a distribution system plan investment of $10 million doesn't know if you did ten things for $10 million or two things for $10 million.  Correct?  If you spent the $10 million you have hit the target.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  I think the way we would respond to that, Mr. Rubenstein, is that particular measure itself is focussed on dollars.  But what you will notice with the particular scorecard is it is a balanced scorecard.

There are elements that can be used to infer productivity or efficiency, for example, SAIDI, SAIFI and are we achieving targets or doing better than the particular targets with the dollars that are there.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, just to be clear -- and maybe I misheard, which is possible.

I thought Ms. Cipolla said the metric that dealt with productivity and efficiency was the 5-year CIR investment plan.

MS. CIPOLLA:  What I spoke to was the fact that that metric includes our productivity savings through consideration of cost containment.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let me ask you about the Copeland project.  Maybe we can go to page 132.  This is a good table.  This is from Staff Interrogatory No.95.

As I understand what this table is showing with respect to the phase 1 portion of Copeland, the OEB- approved costs were $195 million and the current forecast in 2018 will be -- to complete the project will be $204 million.  Do I have that correct?

MR. TRGACHEF:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So the project ended up being about 4.7 above the approved amount.  Correct?

MR. TRGACHEF:  Can you repeat that, please?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So the project is going to end up being about 4.7 percent above the approved amount?

MR. TRGACHEF:  Approximately, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You talk about this at your response to part C on the previous page.  You mention it is approximately a 4.7 increase of the total budget, which is not unanticipated for a project of this size and complexity.  Do you see that?

MR. TRGACHEF:  Yes, I do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So in your view, the 4.7 percent increase over approved amounts is a reasonable amount?

MR. TRGACHEF:  Considering the complexity and demographics entailed in the build out of Copeland station, we feel that closing Copeland within that range is reasonable.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And help me to recall, I don't recall.  Was there a contingency built into the approved budget?

MR. TRGACHEF:  There was not.  I believe that was noted in an IR response, or an undertaking.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  One part of the difference, one part of what ended up -- sorry, I should rephrase.  What ended up happening in the implementation of the work in phase 1 was that ultimately the capital contribution from Hydro One came in about $20 million less.  Correct?

MR. TRGACHEF:  The noted numbers on Table 1 is the capital contributions came in at 39.9 million.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that is about $20.5 million less than the approved amount?

MR. TRGACHEF:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I think we talked about -- there was some discussion about this at the technical conference, and I understand that ultimately they ended up doing less.  Instead of installing ten high voltage breakers they installed six?  Do I recall that correctly?

MR. TRGACHEF:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So if we remove the Hydro One contribution portion of the chart and just look at what work Toronto Hydro was responsible for, you spent about 29.5 million more than you had forecasted.  And that was approved.  Correct?

MR. TRGACHEF:  For this particular area, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So it is about 22 percent more?

MR. TRGACHEF:  I wouldn't categorize it like that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, it is just as a mathematical, it is -- the difference of 29.5 is about 22 percent more.

MR. TRGACHEF:  Mr. Rubenstein, I don't feel that you can departmentalize the HONI contribution in isolation with the other components that made the total cost of Copeland as described in this table.  There are some interdependencies between these components, which would have added costs in other areas.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, so you were asked about that at the technical conference, about Hydro One does less work, what are you doing more of in essence.  What I took from -- what I took from the technical conference transcript is that you had to do more tunnel design work.  Do I have that correct?

MR. TRGACHEF:  There was changes in scope and design, both in the tunnel design and construction as well as the station design and construction.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  As a result of the Hydro One decision to have less high-voltage breakers?

MR. TRGACHEF:  The configuration of the Hydro One switch-gear arrangement required modification in those two areas.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  So if we go to page 137, this is the technical-conference transcript.  I took -- starting at line 7, this is Mr. Gluck asking:

"So my question is, can you explain exactly what happened?  What I am trying to ask you, actually, is:  Did Toronto Hydro do more work than it expected because Hydro One did less work?  Is that the reason for the variance?  Or is it cost overruns on Toronto Hydro's side of the project?"

And at line 18 the response is, after repeating what the difference was:

"So it was reconfigured to a lower number.  However, resulting from those design changes, it did impact other areas of the project which -- where Toronto Hydro did take on more work.  Where I point you to is, the area of tunnel work redesign did impact Toronto Hydro and doing additional work or change in scope."

So is that what you are referring to?

MR. TRGACHEF:  In -- partially, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What do you mean, partially?

MR. TRGACHEF:  Well, there was other areas that were impacted by the work performed by HONI.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So when I look back at page 132 of the table, I see the design and construction of the tunnel had -- you ended up spending more, spent about $2.9 million more.  Do you see that?

MR. TRGACHEF:  Yes, I do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the construction was .4 more.

MR. TRGACHEF:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So that is a $3.4 million difference, correct?

MR. TRGACHEF:  If I was to do the math, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So we go back to the total cost difference of the Toronto Hydro aspect of about $29.5 million.  I am just trying to get the math of, if there is anything else, is there any other cost overruns that -- in other categories that are reflective solely based on the Hydro One doing less work?  I am trying to isolate out that part.  Is Toronto Hydro -- no, Hydro One doing less work?

MR. TRGACHEF:  Mr. Rubenstein, as I mentioned, there is two areas, as noted in the technical conference, that were impacted.  We just went over those.

There were also delays that we encountered due to deficiencies in Hydro One's insulation of their high-voltage switch gear that was near the end of the project, which impacted the schedule of Copeland and also the costing.

It required us to energize Copeland in two phases.  I believe we touched on that in technical.  Phase 1 of the energization happened last December and phase 2 was completed in April.

Both those energization activities resulted in an additional cost directly related to Hydro One work.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I just want to be clear to separate out two things.  One is the decision to -- for Hydro One to move from ten high-voltage breakers to six.  And that is one aspect.  The second, as you're saying, there was some deficiencies in some other aspects.

Did that have anything to do with their decision to do less work that impacted the capital contribution?  Or if they had done ten switch gears and the capital contribution came in at 60.4 would you also have had the issue which caused the delay that you were speaking of?

MR. TRGACHEF:  Mr. Rubenstein, the point I am making here is, again, you are departmentalizing individual categories and isolating the capital contribution.  The Copeland project team managed the project within a funding envelope of $195 million.  We came in at $204.1 million, to be exact.  And the project was managed within that funding envelope in all these categories and we did not isolate one category and revise that budget for that one aspect.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, I understand that is your view, and your view is the $204 million, the 4.7 percent increase is reasonable.  But I am going to try to isolate it, and I just want to make sure when I do so I have the right information.

And what I am just trying to understand is, you raised two issues with Hydro One.  The first issue, as I understand it, is they are doing less switch-gear work.  Instead of ten they're installing six.  And that impacts the capital contribution that you have to pay to Hydro One.

The second -- you then raised a second issue about, there was some deficiencies in Hydro One's work that caused a delay.  I just want to make sure that the additional costs that Toronto Hydro had to incur because of that is unrelated to the capital contribution and the work they were doing with the switch gear.

MR. TRGACHEF:  It may be unrelated to the capital contribution, but it did impact the overall project cost.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I accept that.  And were you able to determine what the actual cost impact of the Hydro One deficiency issue was?

MR. TRGACHEF:  Which part, Mr. Rubenstein?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  The second aspect of the Hydro One issues, the deficiency in some of the work that you said incurred -- there was additional costs incurred by Toronto Hydro on the schedule.

Do you know or are you able to quantify what that amount was?

MR. TRGACHEF:  I don't have that with me, but I can tell you that on the additional cost is in the 204.1 million.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I understand it is in the budget.  But are you able to isolate out the additional time it took to remedy the issue from Hydro One which caused the delay, what that cost impact is?  Just that.

MR. TRGACHEF:  Is this pertaining just to the deficiencies in the high-voltage switch-gear insulation?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.

MR. TRGACHEF:  I don't have that in front of me.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is it a number that exists or...

MR. TRGACHEF:  I'm sure the delays encountered in the project and the additional costs related to those delays have been documented.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But specifically with respect to the Hydro One caused delays?

MR. TRGACHEF:  The delay in Hydro One installing their high voltage switch gear lineup?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  My understanding from what you had explained was there was -- maybe I misheard.  There was one aspect of the work they were doing where there was a deficiency and it caused delays. Is that part correct?

MR. TRGACHEF:  Yes.  That was one aspect.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I am trying to understand.  Is the impact of the Hydro One's deficiencies that caused the delay in the project, is that quantified?

Let me put it this way.  If there was no issue with the Hydro One -- there was no deficiency, what would the budget have been?  Sorry, what would the actual cost have been?  Are we able to isolate out that one issue?

MR. TRGACHEF:  As I mentioned, I don't have that number with me.  It would be lower.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I am just trying to understand if it exists, so I can ask for an undertaking.  If it doesn't exist, then obviously I won't ask for it.  I recognize you don't have it in front of you.  I understand that part.

MR. KEIZER:  Maybe, Mr. Rubenstein, the way we could approach it is we will look to see if there is a number.  If there is a number, we'll produce it.  If we can't, then we will explain.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's fine.

MR. MILLAR:  J1.5.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.5:  IF AVAILABLE, TO PRODUCE THE NUMBER SHOWING THE COST IMPACT OF THE HYDRO ONE DEFICIENCY

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, if I could take you to page 130 of the compendium, this is where you talk about some of the reasons for the delay in the schedule and obviously why there was an increase in costs.

You talk about unusually adverse weather conditions.  Do you see that?

MR. TRGACHEF:  Yes, I can see that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Was that a significant reason as compared to the others?

MR. TRGACHEF:  It was a contributor.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  The second thing is challenging site conditions.  I think you reference that it's at the heritage -- it is a heritage site downtown you were working around.  Correct?

MR. TRGACHEF:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But that wasn't new to Toronto Hydro, correct?  You would have known the site and the round house and the heritage nature of that when you planned the project, correct?

MR. TRGACHEF:  We would have been aware of the heritage site, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you talk about logistical challenges that you had with moving and the high level of the area and of doing some of the work.  Do you see that?  This is page 131.

MR. TRGACHEF:  Yes, I do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Why didn't you prepare for that when you were planning the project, budgeting the project?

MR. TRGACHEF:  Mr. Rubenstein, when we were planning the project, there was factors taken into consideration around site conditions.  But these are conditions that were unknown to us at the time of planning that we encountered during our construction, and have been factored into our lessons learned that we will use for phase 2.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then the last reason you talk about is contractor performance and this is, as I understand, your general contractor went into creditor protection in January 2018, correct?

MR. TRGACHEF:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I know there is a number, a confidential number with what the impact of that is.  But are you able to -- without providing that number -- would you say that was a significant or insignificant, or are you able to, using qualitative terms, describe the impact of the cost increase?

MS. COBAN:  I am not sure it would be appropriate to do that within the context of information that we have asserted confidentiality over.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Let's move on to phase 2 of the project.  I take it you are taking the lessons that you learned from phase 1 of the project for the phase 2 project.  Correct?

MR. TRGACHEF:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So to ensure that if we had, you know, learning all of the things we learned in the phase 1 part, if we knew about that, we would have the costs at a lower amount ultimately.

MR. TRGACHEF:  Can you repeat that question, please?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure.  As I understand one of the things you are going to do with phase 2 is you are going to take the lessons learned, why there were cost overruns, and help that inform your planning for phase 2.  Correct?

MR. TRGACHEF:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so one of the reasons I assume you would want to do that is because, if you know things up front, you can mitigate the cost increases that may occur because of various issues, correct?

MR. TRGACHEF:  It would provide greater detail and indicative costing for the project.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And also I would assume if you know about the logistical issues that we talked about in phase 1, if you knew that coming in, you could do your planning better and to mitigate those.  There still may be some logistical issues, but it may be fewer so you can plan better.

MR. TRGACHEF:  I would agree with the planning part.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So if you knew about -- so if you knew about those things at the beginning of the phase 1 process, ultimately the costs may have been less than the 204 million, because you are going to plan for them.  Maybe more than the 195, but less than the 204.

MR. TRGACHEF:  Mr. Rubenstein, there's many factors that would play into planning for a project and accurately estimating the cost.  What we've detailed here in Staff 95 are a few site logistical factors, as well as performance.

One example I can give you is around the structuring of the project.  This project was a design-bid-build project which had several sub-contracts that impacted not only schedule, but the costing of the project.

As I mentioned, we are using those lessons learned in phase 2.  Hence, the design of the project structure which we feel will bring more accuracy to not only the budget for the project, but also the schedule.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let me ask you about the phase 2.  If we turn to page 140 of the compendium?

So phase 2, in the last proceeding you had forecast the cost at $48 million.  Correct?

MR. TRGACHEF:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now the forecast is 88.5 million.  Correct?

MR. TRGACHEF:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So it is about an 85 percent increase in costs from the last case to this case, correct?

MR. TRGACHEF:  There is an increase in forecast, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you provide the reasons beginning at line 13 and into the next page.

One of them you say is project structure, and I think you just alluded to this.  You had a different contractor for design, supply and construction and for phase 2 you are moving to an EPC contractor.  Correct?

MR. TRGACHEF:  That is one element, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And your comment at the last sentence over the page is:
"This has resulted in significant increased costs associated with the project design project administration and management, both for Toronto Hydro and the EPC firm, audit, oversight and billing costs."


Correct?

MR. TRGACHEF:  In the structure of an EPC project, there would be inherent risk which would have premiums associated with it.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, I understand that.  But it begs the question:  Why are you switching the project structure if the cost increases -- one of the reasons the costs increased by 85 percent?

Help me understand that.  Costs are increasing from the last case by 85 percent.  One of the reasons you say is project structure.  And I think you admit it is going to increase costs.  I am just trying to understand why that is something you are switching.

MR. TRGACHEF:  Perhaps, Mr. Rubenstein, it would be helpful if I can take you back to what was incorporated into the forecast that was provided in our application in 2014.

The forecast in 2014 was -- primarily included procurement of costs, procurement costs of major electrical equipment, and did not factor in elements such as RFP development, design and pre-construction, testing and commissioning, energization activities.

Couple that with the lessons learned that we have increased our knowledge in Copeland phase 1, those have all been factored into the new forecast.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So with the projects almost doubling in cost, how does the Board know that it is still a cost-effective solution?

MR. TRGACHEF:  Mr. Rubenstein, going back to the evidence put forward and the lessons learned, the Copeland team feels that the forecasted budget for Copeland phase two is accurate.  We feel that it will come in on budget.

And if I can take you back to the original business case for Copeland phase 1 in 2012, the forecasted budget for phase 2 that was provided in that evidence was projected to be $77 million.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Then how do we get to the $47 million number?

MR. TRGACHEF:  As I just mentioned, the forecast that was provided in 2014 was primarily citing major equipment costs and did not factor in some of the other details I described.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Let me ask you, if you could turn to page 153 of the compendium.  I just want to ask about your energy storage system program.

As I understand, there's three different elements of that program.  The first is the grid performance, energy storage system, the second is renewable enabling energy storage system, and the third is customer-specific energy storage systems.  Correct?

MR. TAKI:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as I understand it, grid performance energy systems are in front of the meter storage systems which benefit the distribution grid, like any other asset you install on your system?

MR. TAKI:  The grid performance energy storage systems are intended as described in the evidence, to improve performance in the grid in the sense of power quality.  We have not put them forth necessarily as being ahead of the meter.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, are they behind the meter?

MR. TAKI:  There could be applications where they could be behind the meter, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Are you proposing any -- is the budget that is contained including any behind the meter?

MR. TAKI:  We have talked about the behind-the-meter issue, and I am just going to -- if you give me a moment I will find an interrogatory.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I know there is behind the meter in the customer-specific.  I am just talking about the grid performance component of this.

MR. TAKI:  The example that we've described, the example in the evidence that we described, that specific example is not behind the meter.  But in general we're not proposing that all grid performance will be ahead of the meter.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  So there could be grid performance energy systems that you will install that are behind the meter?

MR. TAKI:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Are any of the budgeted amounts behind the meter?

MR. TAKI:  We have not yet finalized the locations of the grid performance ESS projects, and therefore I can't confirm whether they will be behind the meter or ahead of the meter.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  And the second component of the program is renewable energy storage systems.  And my understanding, they're not actually energy storage systems, but investments you are making to your system to enable others to put DR on the grid.  Correct?  Do I have that right?

MR. TAKI:  The renewable enabling energy storage systems investments or energy storage systems.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Right.  And are those in front or behind the meter?

MR. TAKI:  Again, they could be either ahead of the meter or behind the meter.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Then the third is customer-specific energy storage systems, and I understand those are behind the meter?

MR. TAKI:  The ones that we have put forward in the evidence, the four projects listed there, those will be behind the meter.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And my understanding is, unlike the other programs, the energy -- the customer-specific energy storage systems, there is no net cost or you are proposing no net capital costs to customers because they will pay a capital contribution, correct?

MR. TAKI:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is that the case for the other two programs which are -- potentially could be behind the meter?

MR. TAKI:  No.  That's not the case for the other programs.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  My understanding from the customer-specific energy storage systems, the capital contribution includes the upfront or actual capital contributions as well as an amount for OM&A over, I think it is a ten-year life of the asset or some amount to calculate, the idea to recover the OM&A costs over the asset's life.  Correct?

MR. TAKI:  Yes, that's correct.  And we've provided an example in the JTC1.13 in your compendium in the last page.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So let me ask you, because it is an upfront amount, if the OM&A costs to service the customer-specific energy storage system is higher than you forecast, who pays for that?  The customer?  Or the general ratepayers?

MR. TAKI:  To clarify, you are asking if -- in this case, for example, we forecasted 4.64 million.  It has gone into the offer to connect.  What would happen if the costs are -- the actuals are higher?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  My understanding, the capital costs
-- the customer pays the actual capital costs, correct?  It is not a forecast.  They end up -- it gets trued up.  They end up paying the actuals on the upfront capital component to build the facility.  Correct?

MR. TAKI:  No.  That is not correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's not correct?

MR. TAKI:  Toronto Hydro has offered to connect policy, is our offer to connect, our firm offers.  We do not true-up after the project is completed.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, so say it costs more than whatever you had forecasted to build the energy system.  Who pays the difference?  You forecast $5 million, and say it comes in at $5.5 million when all things are done.  Is it the customer who pays the additional 500,000 after they originally paid the 5 million?  Or is it Toronto Hydro and its ratepayers?

MR. TAKI:  In the case of all of the programs that have offers to connect associated with them, customer connections, generation connections, the customer-specific energy storage systems, the case would be -- I mean, we apply consistently our Offer to Connect Policy, and ultimately if the costs are higher, Toronto Hydro's ratepayers would be incurring those costs, similarly if the costs are lower.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Am I correct that energy storage, behind the meter energy storage, there's other providers outside of Toronto Hydro.  A customer can pick a number of others to build a facility for them, correct?

MR. TAKI:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  It is a competitive activity?

MR. TAKI:  There are others who provide the service.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  In a competitive marketplace?

MR. TAKI:  Sure, if you would like to describe it that way.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So why should this be a utility activity, or at least why should ratepayers bear the risk for it?

MR. TAKI:  Regardless of whether there are others who provide that service, Mr. Rubenstein, the energy storage is an asset, like many other assets we have on the distribution system that provide a lot of benefits to the system from an operational and reliability perspective.

And so whether or not it is a competitive area, we see it as a distribution asset.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Panel, those are my questions for now.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  I think we are on to Mr. Millar.  We are hoping to take the break at around 3:30, if you want to time yourself accordingly.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Just give me a moment here.

I planned to print my notes on the break, so I will have to work right off my screen.  But that shouldn't be a problem.

Okay.  Madam Chair, if I may begin by -- Staff prefiled a compendium, so perhaps we could mark that as an exhibit.  And that is K1.3, the Staff compendium for panel 1.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  STAFF COMPENDIUM FOR PANEL 1


MR. MILLAR:  I am happy to say that Mr. Rubenstein in fact did cover some of my areas, so I should be shorter than I originally put down for.  I don't know that we will finish it today, but we should get well into it.

Good afternoon, panel.  My name is Michael Millar and I think I have met many of you before.  I am counsel for Board Staff, and I am hoping you can assist me as we go through a few of the issues related to capital.

Let me start by asking a few questions about your forecast capital expenditures and, in particular, the interplay between your reactive and proactive budgets. So I just want to make sure I understand how it works.

Within your system renewal budget, you've got two separate types of capital budgets, correct?  You have a proactive budget and reactive budget?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Within system renewal generally, most of the programs that are there are planned programs with the exception of what is in section E 6.7, which is the reactive and corrective capital program.

MR. MILLAR:  I used proactive and you -- sorry, you used the correct term, which I have already forgotten.  But you have a planned budget and then a reactive budget, okay.  The planned or proactive budget, that is used to replace and repair assets on a planned basis, and presumably because they're in poor condition or near the end of life, or something like that?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.  Generally the differences are the time horizons.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  But the reactive budget would be for cases where an asset fails before you had expected it to fail, for whatever reason, and has to be replaced immediately.  Is that fair?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, fails or is posing unacceptable risks to the system.

MR. MILLAR:  Right.  If a storm damages a feeder or something like that, that would come out of the reactive budget.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Could we turn to page -- let's skip all the way to page 21 of the compendium.

You will be aware that Staff had some interest in how these two budgets related to one another.

You will see we asked some questions about that.  This is at technical conference response, you see around line 11 or 12 of that response, you state that approximately ten to 20 percent of reactive capital work requests involve intervention on assets that are part of an existing planned capital scope of work.  So in other words, work that you were already planning to do.  And that that amounts to only about $5 million annually.  Is that correct?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  So when we were thinking about it, wouldn't the -- the assets that you target through your planned budget, those would be assets that are already nearing the end of their life, right?  Or there is some reason where you expect they need to be replaced.  That's fair?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So again, the 10 to 20 percent seemed low to us.  You would think that things that needed reactive care would tend to be things that were already within your planned budget, but it seems that 80 to 90 percent of them are not.  Could you discuss why that might be the case?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Certainly.  So what drives expenditures in the reactive bucket are a number of things.

So you made reference, Mr. Millar, to storm damage.  Storm damage, as you could expect, is generally fairly random.  Yes, older deteriorated assets are at a higher risk of failing during adverse weather conditions, but usually you can expect that storm damage might hit actually some very healthy, healthy assets.

So that would be one reason why you might not necessarily see the proportions that you might be expecting.

Other reasons, and what you will note as you look through our program, is that our programs are focussed on some of the highest risk assets that we have.

So, for example, in the underground circuit or system renewal program, Mr. Taki mentioned this earlier this morning, that we're focussed on some of our direct buried cable, which means our non-direct buried cable is not receiving significant investment on a planned basis.  So if something was to fail in the area that is not direct buried, we don't necessarily have a planned program that is actively addressing those to a significant extent.  So therefore, we would deal with that re actively.

The other example which we could look to is our paper insulated lead cable, our underground system renewal program in the downtown.  You will recall, Mr. Millar, that we're now moving from a very reactive approach to managing cables in our downtown to now a planned approach, and this is really the first investment that we're looking to make on a planned basis on those cables.

So historically, what we found is as we've been -- as we've not necessarily been investing in particular parts of the system, when reactive needs prop up, we would address them through the reactive and corrective capital program.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you for that answer.  I am not sure how much further we can go with it.  It seems to me that you do target the things in the HI4 and HI5 categories with your planned budget.  I mean, there would be exceptions to that, but that is where you would start when you look, right?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, those would be the higher priority items.

MR. MILLAR:  I take it that there are any number of reasons an asset might fail, whether it be a storm or I backed my car into a pole on my way to work in the morning.  But one of the main reasons they would fail is because -- fail unexpectedly or before they were replaced on a planned basis is because they're old, or old and in poor condition?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.  Many of the assets we do replace reactively are old.

MR. MILLAR:  Could you turn to page 24, please, of the compendium?  And this is taken from the application.

You will see the reactive budget in that Table 6 and for the test period, the numbers are between 56 and 60 million, something like that?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  You said -- we already established that you state only about $5 million of the capital expenditures are reactive work that would have been part of planned work.  That is the number we just discussed a moment ago.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  You also said it's about 10 to 20 percent.  Five million is about eight and a half percent of the average from the work you have done here.

So it seems to be even lower than 10 to 20 percent.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  On a dollar basis, it is.

MR. MILLAR:  So again, I understand that the 10 to 20 percent is kind of -- I don't want to call it a guesstimate, but it was a range.

Why would those two numbers be significantly different?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  So the 10 to 20 percent is based on work requests, and not every work request is equal from a cost-to-address perspective.

What we're finding is that the work requests, although roughly 10 to 20 percent are found in a high-level scope of work that we have identified, when you look at the aggregate costs to address those, the costs are lower.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So it is a numbers versus costs issue?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Can you tell me where you came up with the $5 million?  Is that some sort of historical average, or is that -- how did you come up with five million?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Subject to check, it would be a review of work requests in recent years, and the associated costs to address those work requests.

MR. MILLAR:  Do you know the recent years?  Are we talking two, three years?  Five years?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Subject to check, I want to say it is 2015 to 2017.

MR. MILLAR:  Also, again, I don't know if we have to flip back to it, back on page 21 you provided a little bit of additional information on -- you will see at about line 14 you state that:

"For the reasons outlined in the table below only a fraction of this work results in opportunities to reduce planned capital."

In the footnote it actually says it is only $2 million.  How did you derive that figure?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Specifically we derive that figure -- I don't have that information with me at this time.

MR. MILLAR:  Let me put it a different way.  I don't know if we need an undertaking.  But is what you're saying here that all of the reactive work that you do only displaces $2 million of your entire planned capital budget?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Generally, yes.  And the table that follows that particular page outlines some of the reasons why that would be.

MR. MILLAR:  I am certainly not trying to cut you off.  I think one of the reasons is you state that you kind of -- that is part of your planning; is that right?  Like, you kind of take that into account when you are doing your planned -- your planned capital budget?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  We do make allocations or adjustments for amounts that we believe would not necessarily need to be expended on the basis of having to
-- on the basis if addressing something through reactive capital as opposed to planned capital.

MR. MILLAR:  Maybe by way of an example would be helpful.  Let me talk you through one and you can tell me how the planning process would work.  Let's say you have an overhead replacement program, and just to keep it simple, let's say you are replacing 100 poles.  That is the program.

You will know from experience that a few of those poles will actually end up getting replaced beforehand for whatever reason.  They fail for whatever reason.  And instead of 100 poles it will be something less than 100 poles that you are actually replacing.  Would that be a fair way -- is that a fair example?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. TAKI:  Yes, that's a fair example.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So how does that account -- so is your budget then for 100 poles?  Or do you budget for something less than that?  Or do you take into account that some of this stuff is probably going to actually be replaced through the reactive budget before you do the planned program?

MR. TAKI:  So, I mean, you are asking in the context, obviously, of what we have put forward in this example for the overhead renewal program.  And so to answer your question, the way we have developed the estimate for the overhead system renewal program in taking into account historical unit costs, looking at historical projects, by doing that, the actual -- those are actual costs.

So the actual costs would reflect the fact that, in the specific example that you have used, we replace 97 poles and not 100 poles.

MR. MILLAR:  So the -- sorry, I didn't mean to interrupt you.

MR. TAKI:  Yes, so in our estimates there is no overlap that is associated with reactive, because we're using historical actual costs.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So -- and maybe I don't have this straight.  Let's again take a hypothetical example of an overhead replacement.  You are doing a street, let's say you are doing a street, and the street has 100 poles.  When you are doing your budgeting you do not budget for 100 poles?

MR. TAKI:  At the time of that specific project when the project is issued, if those replacements haven't yet taken place, it would be issued with the intention to replace the 100 poles.

However, as the project proceeds and you get to, let's say either design or execution, and it is determined that those poles have already been replaced, those three, for example, and they do not need to be replaced, therefore in that case we would not replace them and the project would end up having replaced only 97 poles.

MR. MILLAR:  Right.  But was your budget for 97?  Or for 100?

MR. TAKI:  The initial budget would have been for 100.  The actual costs would have been for 97.

MR. MILLAR:  Right.  So is there double-counting then, because you have got that covered in your reactive budget as well.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Mr. Millar, maybe I can take a step back here.

On page 23 of your compendium -- and the second row there specifically speaks to our overhead circuit renewal program.  I think the question that you asked Mr. Taki was specific to a project in and of itself.  So the way Mr. Taki explained it, that is for a particular project at the time that we released the project.

What is before the Board right now is a program-based budget, and here it states that:

"Opportunities to reduce planned capital are available for some area rebuild projects and spot replacements.  Those opportunities have been considered and incorporated in the planned budget."

Then it goes on to say:

"Considerable work, approximately half of the feeders being worked on for area rebuilds, is for voltage conversions, which is similar in nature to area conversions presenting the limitations described above."

And the limitations that were described above are when it comes to voltage conversions we're moving from a 4-kilovolt system up to either 13.8 or 27.6 system.  Even if something was replaced relatively recently on a reactive basis, that asset would need to be replaced again; for example, a transformer.

MR. MILLAR:  Again, I don't want to dwell on this issue too long.  So reactive capital would always be like for like?  So you wouldn't replace it with the upgraded version?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  If the local system, for example, is operating at 4 kilovolts, you would need to put in a
4-kilovolt transformer.  You couldn't put a 13 --


MR. MILLAR:  I understand that example.

Can we turn to page 25.  This is just an example of the project documentation.  I am not sure it is a particularly good example, frankly, for what we're discussing here.

But obviously you have seen that these would be project descriptions, I guess, for any number of projects that you do?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  This would be consistent of a scope of work document.

MR. MILLAR:  And nowhere at this level would it actually address the issue that you and I have been discussing, right?  There is nothing in here about how reactive work that's already been done would fit into this?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Well, what the planner would likely do is if there's specific assets that don't necessarily need to be replaced, they would be identified here.

This particular scope that you have is of a voltage conversion.  So this is a 4-kV feeder, 4-kilovolt feeder, that would be upgraded to in this particular case a
13.8-kilovolt feeder.  So the opportunities to identify something such as what you are mentioning are limited, if any at all.

MR. MILLAR:  Is that because of this particular project, though?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  In this particular project.  But as Mr. Taki mentioned, when we get down to the detailed level when we are issuing very specific project scopes, the planner would look at the area and would assess whether assets need to be replaced and would explicitly state:  This asset has been replaced recently.  It is perfectly fine.  Don't replace it.

Or if, let's say, the reactive replacement was to occur subsequent to this particular scope of work being issued, that would be captured downstream of our scoped development is our project development.  So it is a refinement of the scope, so it might be captured there.  Downstream of that is our design process, so the designer might actually see that something has been replaced reactively, it would be captured there.  And then finally, once we go out into the field to construct something, if there isn't a need to replace it then we wouldn't replace it.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So I understand that.  And many of those decisions would have to be made at the time that you are actually rolling out the project?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  But today, you actually don't know all of that.  So you are doing your budgeting at a higher level for your planned replacements.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, at the program level.

MR. MILLAR:  So do you already recognize today that some of that stuff -- do you already take into account today in your planning process that some of that stuff will probably be replaced reactively before you get around to doing it at the project level?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes, there are allowances made for that.

MR. MILLAR:  And is that -- I guess there wouldn't be any more documentation other than what we have already gone over.  You actually have provided a helpful explanation in the interrogatories, but we are not missing something on the record where it says here's the adjustment for reactive capital?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  I don't believe so.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Madam Chair, I am moving on to an area that will probably be ten or 15 minutes, so I could take the break now or when I am done the next area.  It is up to you.

MS. ANDERSON:  I think we can keep going a bit longer.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Let's talk about rear-lot conversions.  Can we turn to page, I guess it's 33 of the compendium, please.

So first, the rear-lot conversions, as I understand it, these are -- I don't know if it is a quirk to Toronto, but there is a whole bunch of houses that have their equipment that hooks them up to the grid is in their backyard or in a back lane, or something like that.  Is that right?

MR. TAKI:  Yes.  It would be in the backyard.

MR. MILLAR:  And that's -- for a number of reasons, that is a suboptimal situation.  There’s some problems accessing it.  I don't know; there may be more trees.  For whatever reason, it has been decided that that should be corrected and that you should get rid of those, is that right?

MR. TAKI:  Yes.  And we have described those reasons in the evidence.

MR. MILLAR:  Exactly and I am not arguing about that at this point.  The budget for that, if you look at table 8, if you add up the forecast costs for 2020 through 2024, I get $113.5 million.  Would you take that, subject to check?  Again I just added those numbers together.

MR. TAKI:  Yes, subject to check.

MR. MILLAR:  And you used a base cost of $36,000 per customer, plus inflation and support costs to derive this.  That is your -- that's the average cost to do one of these is $36,000?

MR. TAKI:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Could we turn to page 35, please, of the compendium?

We asked you some questions at the technical conference about how you calculated the 36,000 figure.  And you said it is based on three projects that were completed during the 2013-2017 period.  Do you see there’s three projects listed there?

MR. TAKI:  Yes.  I see it, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And then if we turn to page 38, you provided -- you gave us an update to that, to the rear lot conversion cost per customer.  In this case, it was based on four projects that were completed between 2013 and 2018, and the unit cost increased by a thousand dollars to $37,000.  Is that right?  You see that at line 13?

MR. TAKI:  If you include the 2018 project, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  A slight increase, but it was more or less the same.

But in this interrogatory, Staff had actually asked you for all the projects that were completed during the 2013-2018 period.

If I look at the four projects you provide, they total 1,400 customers.  Is that right?

MR. TAKI:  Yes, approximately.

MR. MILLAR:  And if we flip back to page 33, you will see at line 4 you had over -- you had 2090 customers were converted between 2015 and 2017 alone.

Then if we flip ahead to page 40, you will see -- again page 40 at line 4, you did another 257 -- I have lost my spot here.  Another 257 customers were converted in 2018 to 2019.

So between 2015 and 2019, just to add those figures, you actually did 2,347 conversions?

MR. TAKI:  Yes.  We did more than what we've provided in --


MR. MILLAR:  Back at page 38?

MR. TAKI:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  If we go back to page 38, these projects -- I don't know if the word missing is the right word.  They do not include 950 customer conversions that you actually made during that period?

MR. TAKI:  Yes.  There is that gap, and based on what you are suggesting, it is around 950.

MR. MILLAR:  If we could flip back to page 40, please, you give the total cost for this to be for this period to be $59.9 million.  And as we have established, that is for 2,347 conversions.  By our math, that averages to $25,500, not 36 or 37,000.

Can you help me with that?

MR. TAKI:  Certainly.  We briefly alluded to this and I will elaborate.  But in U-Staff-173 -- so on page 39 of your compendium -- there is a paragraph there where we stated that the project areas listed in the tables above are those that were started in 2013, completed by 2018, and have expenditures grouped in a manner that may be appropriately used to calculate the unit cost on a per customer basis.

So I will elaborate on this and hopefully it will provide clarification.

First of all, rear lot projects are multi-phased.  They may have civil and electrical phases and they may also have -- they may be compartmentalized into projects or components that are beyond just civil and electrical related to, for example, feeding that specific neighbourhood.  There may be an overhead trunk, or underground and so on.

So there’s multiple phases, that is number one, and those phases may take a few years.  And so it wouldn’t be appropriate to just take, let's say, two years of costs and divide by the number of customers converting in those two years.  You need to know when the project started, when it completed, and the number of customers specifically associated with those costs.

So that is number one.  Number two is rear lot projects, many times is it not purely rear lot.  It is majority rear lot.  What I mean by that is you may have customers within the rear lot neighbourhood, within that project area that may already be fed underground, or already be fed front lot overhead.

And so we've left those projects out of this calculation, because they would also -- it is not -- we're not able to extract those costs in an accurate manner, the costs that are not purely associated with the rear lot conversion work.  And so we've only considered projects here whereby we're able to clearly correlate the costs of the project with the customers that are being converted from a rear lot to a front lot underground.

And that is why you see that this subset -- this is a subset of all of the work that we're doing in the rear lot program.

I hope that provides the clarification.

MR. MILLAR:  That does give me some help.  So first, if we turn to page 38, these four projects -- first of all, I notice that Markland Woods is the biggest one, 806 customers.

It started in 2014.  Are the costs from before 2014 for that, or are all of these costs associated with this time period?

MR. TAKI:  The Markland Woods project is a large project and has multiple components.  There may have been some work that took place in 2013, but if we were not able to clearly correlate the costs with the number of rear lot customers that we converted like I described previously, then we would not have included it in this table.

MR. MILLAR:  Let's go back to page 40, again line 5.  It’s 59.5, $60 million, that is the budget for rear lot conversions for 2015-2019, is that correct?

MR. TAKI:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Is that a cap ex number?  Does that include the CWIP from any previous years?  What does that include?

MR. TAKI:  That is the cap ex number.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  How many lots were converted for that?

MR. TAKI:  For 2015-2019?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  It is not 1,400, right?

MR. TAKI:  If you give me a moment, I think we provided that in an interrogatory.

MR. KEIZER:  Not to interrupt Mr. Millar's cross, but maybe, if it is convenient, we could look for the interrogatory over the break and then Mr. Millar could continue.  Is that fair?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  If it is going to be -- I don't want to put the witness on the spot.  If he needs a moment to look up the answer, that is fine.  This is almost the end of this issue anyway, but that's fine.

MS. ANDERSON:  Let's take twenty minutes.

MR. KEIZER:  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 3:30 p.m.
--- On resuming at 3:54 p.m.

MS. ANDERSON:  Please be seated.  Okay.  We left off and you were looking for some information.  How did we do?

MR. TAKI:  So the IR is AMPCO 130.  And you will see in the section for rear-lot conversion we've indicated that 2,090 customers were converted between 2015 and 2017, 173 in 2018, and 84 forecasted for 2019.

MR. MILLAR:  And what does that give us in total?

MR. TAKI:  Around 2,400 customers.  Actually, the total is there.  2,347.

MR. MILLAR:  2,347.  Sorry, I am a little -- I have trouble reading.  Okay.  In the budget for that is $59.9 million?

MR. TAKI:  The budget for the period of 2015 to 2019 is 59.9 million.  However, as I described earlier, those are not necessarily the costs reflective of the 2,347 customers, because there may have been work associated with those conversions prior to 2015.

MR. MILLAR:  But that would make it -- and that would add to the cost.  Is there any way --


MR. TAKI:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Is there any way to quantify that?

MR. TAKI:  Well, that is what we have tried to do for you in those -- the interrogatories that we went through, where we have taken the projects that were fully completed, and where we could correlate the costs only to rear-lot conversions.

MR. MILLAR:  I mean, the number that we have -- we came up with 2,350 and you have 2,347.  So essentially the same number.  But you are telling me we can't consider all of those, because there would be CWIP associated with those from previous periods?

MR. TAKI:  Yes.  There could be costs incurred for this work.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, could be?  Or is?

MR. TAKI:  Mr. Millar, I am certain that there would be costs associated -- the rear-lot program projects did not all stop at the end of '14 and then restart at the beginning of 2015.  There was definitely overlap of work.

MR. MILLAR:  I mean, wouldn't there have been overlap of work on the Markland Woods project, and you used that as one of your examples.  That is at page 38 of the compendium.

MR. TAKI:  In the compendium, that Markland Woods project, all of the work associated with that project as it's been provided -- as it's been described in the interrogatory, all of the costs associated with that work are there.  And all of the customers that were converted directly associated with those costs are there.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So what I should understand, then, is although the evidence discusses 2,347 conversions over that time period and it gives a budget of $59.9 million for those projects, that is not actually the full budget for them?

MR. TAKI:  For those conversions?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. TAKI:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And do we know how much was actually in CWIP?  Is that -- it would only be -- do these projects take more than 12 months each?  In other words, would there ever be more than one year of CWIP?

MR. TAKI:  There may be -- so these projects, like I said, have multiple phases, and each one of -- each one of those phases from a construction perspective, from an execution perspective, may be considered a project on its own.  And so there could be ones that are within a year.  There could be ones that exceed one year.

MR. MILLAR:  Would many of them exceed one year?

MR. TAKI:  I can't confirm that.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, the average that we calculate of 25,500, that is very, very different from $37,000, and that suggests that there is a -- the difference is something like a third.  A third of that money is not going to be in CWIP, is it?  Because these projects go all the way to 2019.

MR. TAKI:  Mr. Millar, I am looking for an interrogatory that I think might help us.  If you just give me one moment.

So to help further clarify, I would like to take you to BOMA 96.  So in trying to further illustrate the different phases of projects and how different costs may be allocated to different years, in this interrogatory the question is about the costs in -- the significant increase from total costs for the program from the previous -- or the current period 2015 to 2019 to 2020 to 2024.  And we describe in the response that that is primarily because, in the 2015 to '19 period, we've executed a lot of electrical work, and in the 2020 to 2024 period there is a higher balance of civil and electrical.

So you can see that even from these different periods, the work may differ, but it is related to the same project areas, but these -- because rear-lot project execution is quite complex in moving the assets from the back yard to the front yard, it does take multiple years, there are multiple phases, and the only correct way to come up with a cost per customer is to take into account all of the costs associated with that work and determine the correct number of customers that are -- that can be correctly allocated to those costs and come up with the average.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, that's helpful.  The budget for 2015 to 2019, a period of five years, is $60 million.  Correct?  That was the cap ex.  That is the 59.9 million we discussed before.

MR. TAKI:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And we have the number of conversions right at 2,347.  That is the number we discussed.

MR. TAKI:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And in order -- so that's how we got the $25,500.  I understand you're saying some of those costs are excluded, but in order to get us to $37,000 are you telling me there is something like $30 million from the period before 2015 associated with these 2,347 projects?

Again, my math skills are very poor, but I am just -- we are off by about a third.  It is a very significant difference.  20 million, not 30 million.  Which is a third of 60 million.

MR. TAKI:  I mean, you have described the difference, but without having gone back and done the analysis, you know, we would have to -- there are reasons just like I have described for that -- the discrepancy you have pointed out.

However, though, it is still -- if you incorporate -- let's say you take those costs that were prior to the 2015 to '19 period and you were to, like I described, take all of the costs associated with those projects and correctly allocate them, directly link them to the number of customers, then you would get something like what we have provided in the interrogatory.

In fact, in the interrogatory, what we have provided is the only thing that you will get to, because those are the only projects where we could directly correlate the number of conversions to the costs of the projects.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  But to get from the 25,500 we have calculated to $37,000, is it fair to say that there's something like 20 million that would have to be added to the sixty million that we have already -- that you have already established as your budget?

MR. TAKI:  Theoretically, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  A slightly different question on this.  Whether the cost is 25,000 or 37,000, or whatever it is, somewhere in between there, again I am not a system engineer, I am not a planner, that sounds like a ton of money for every house to convert.

Is this worth it?  Is it worth $37,000 to either customers, or to Toronto Hydro for that matter, to convert a single house from rear lot to front lot?

MR. TAKI:  When we started the dialogue, Mr. Millar, you alluded to some of the reasons why we're proceeding with the rear lot program, and those are the same reasons that we -- that we have for continuing the program.  And just to get no into some of the specifics, although we didn't get into them earlier, in these areas we have -- typically when we have outages, they're the longest to restore and we experience these when there's sort of an outage on a sunny day, and we experience them when we have storms like the 2013 ice storms where these customers were some of the last to get restored.

So the length of the outages, the safety risks, and this is essentially an obsolete part of our system and so, yes, it is worth that 36 or $37,000 per customer.

MR. MILLAR:  So -- sorry I didn't mean to cut you off.


MR. TAKI:  The value is there, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  But outages is the chief benefit of this, right?  You are reducing outage frequency, but more importantly duration?

MR. TAKI:  Outages and reliability is one of the drivers.

MR. MILLAR:  What is another driver?

MR. TAKI:  Safety is another driver in this program.

MR. MILLAR:  Tell me about that.

MR. TAKI:  These assets, them being in backyards and being also aged assets built to previous standards, they introduce safety risks to both public and to our staff.

As you know, in backyards people have swimming pools, they have decks, they have sheds, and there are a lot of trees as well.

In previous standards, poles were not as high.  Clearances are not what they are today.  So conductors and equipment on poles are a lot lower than they are today in today's standard.  And these assets, being older and aged and in poor condition, those factors entail a risk to the public, to those folks in which -- in whose backyards these assets exist.

And with respect to our staff, accessibility is a significant challenge when they're responding to outages in these backyards.  And more often than not, especially if they're at night, there is poor lighting and they're having to access these poles going through, again like I said, backyard -- people's backyards, swimming pools, sheds, playgrounds and trying to get their equipment in there and trying to -- and trying to climb these poles and address outages in a safe manner.

We have described these safety factors in the evidence and so those are the safety issues.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  Make no mistake, I don't doubt for a second that it is much more convenient to have these facilities out front than out back.

My question more is how much is that convenience?  And I do take some safety issues.   how much is that worth?

In terms of the outages, have you actually -- these would almost all be homes, right, residential homes?  There might be a corner store or something, but by and large these are homes?

MR. TAKI:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Have you asked your customers what value shorter outages is to them, in terms of if you were to compare that against $37,000 for a conversion?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Specifically with respect to what customers have told us, rear lot, there’s a few points that come up.

One is during the presentation day, Mr. Millar, you might recall that I said a story about our Jamestown rear lot area, and just to really quickly paraphrase what I spoke about during presentation day, Jamestown is an area in Etobicoke.  Over four months towards the end of 2017, there was a series of successive outages in that rear lot area.

On New Year's Eve in fact, there was another outage and we could not restore the power to that particular area.  What it required us to do is for a period of, I believe, two weeks if I remember correctly, have a standby generator on one of the customer's driveways, back-feeding those customers.

So I think if we were to ask those particular customers how they feel about the rear lot supply that they have, they would say that this is clearly money that is very well spent.

MR. MILLAR:  Right.  But it is not just them.  I mean, I am paying too, right?  Maybe I won't personalize it, but everyone is paying for that.

And if you ask anyone would you like to have better equipment put on your house and everyone else will pay for it, they will say yes.

I guess my question was:  Was it ever put to customers more generally, is this worth $37,000?

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  In our customer engagement materials -- and maybe I could bring you to that, in particular I think phase 2 of customer engagement, within the particular work book, there was some very specific dialogue around our rear lot program.

So, yes, we have put it to customers.

MR. MILLAR:  Did it mention $37,000?  We can do that by undertaking, I don't want to -- if you don't have it in front of you.

MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  I don't have it in front of me.  I know it was certainly part of those materials.

MR. KEIZER:  Maybe you can address that with panel 3.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you, witnesses.  I think I have spent enough time on rear lot, so let's move on.

Just quickly, if we could turn to page 41 -- actually 43 of the compendium.  This is U-Staff-166.5 in which some updates were provided.  You see at the very bottom of page 43, the capital contribution ratio for 2014 to 2018 is 48 percent using the weighted average method, and 44 percent using the simple average method.

And that is an update from the previous evidence, is that correct?

MS. COBAN:  Mr. Millar, are you asking if this is updated information, in terms of the forecast that has been provided for the 2020-24 period?  Or an update with respect to the 2018 information as a result of actuals coming in for that year?

MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry, Ms. Coban, I am having a little bit of difficulty hearing.  My simple question is -- let me phrase it differently, so we don't have any confusion.

So 48 percent is the weighted average for capital contribution ratio, is that correct?  That is the current evidence?

MR. TAKI:  I apologize.

MR. MILLAR:  Again I am on page 43 of the compendium.  Just a simple question.  I am reading it straight from here.  48 percent is the weighted average for the capital contribution ratio for 2014 to 2018?

MR. TAKI:  Yes.  44 percent, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, 48 percent weighted and 44 percent using simple average?

MR. TAKI:  Yes.  With the 2018 incorporated, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And your original proposal was to use the weighted average; is that correct?

MR. TAKI:  The original proposal was 46 percent, and that was based on the weighted average as per the calculation we provided in the interrogatory.

MR. MILLAR:  Great.  Thank you for that.

If you turn to page 45, we just ran -- these are our numbers, but they're taken directly from the application.

We simply ran the 48 percent by your gross customer additions -- gross customer connections, the forecast you have for the test period.  And we got new net numbers.  And first, I guess whether you agree that that's the -- first, do you agree that 48 percent is the number we should be using for that calculation?  That is the new weighted average, so that is what we should be using?

MR. TAKI:  If you use the same formula that we had provided in the interrogatory and you include the 2018, you will get approximately 48 percent.

MR. MILLAR:  Right.  And if we run -- we just ran 48 percent by your own numbers and this is what we got.  Did we do anything wrong with our math?  You can do it by undertaking or subject to check if you wish.  All we did was simply multiply the gross number by .48.

MR. TAKI:  Yes, subject to check I think it seems to be correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.

Let's move on.  Page 46 of the compendium -- Mr. Rubenstein touched on this, so I will be very quick.  This relates to the Carillion or -- is that how it is pronounced?  Carillion, or Carillion, whoever -- there's some insolvency litigation surrounding that that you discussed with Mr. Rubenstein?

MR. TAKI:  Mr. Millar, if you don't mind, on the previous question --


MR. MILLAR:  Go ahead.

MR. TAKI:  -- I would just like to provide or point out that, while you have calculated the capital contribution using the 48 percent, including 2018, you would also have to recast the gross forecast to include 2018, because the gross forecast is also based on historicals to actually get to sort of an update that reflects 2018.

MR. MILLAR:  So what you're saying is the gross numbers we have here should be updated?

MR. TAKI:  To incorporate 2018, yes, if you are updating the capital contribution number.

MR. MILLAR:  Why would that change the 2020 to 2024 gross numbers?

MR. TAKI:  Well, because they're also based on historicals.

MR. MILLAR:  Do you have the updated numbers?

MR. TAKI:  I don't have them with me.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, why don't we do this.  Can you undertake to -- if you think we have done something wrong in this chart or it is not proper, then you could file with an explanation of how you think we got it wrong.

MS. COBAN:  Yes.  We can clarify that, and just for the purposes of the record, can we have the page number in your compendium, just to be clear for the undertaking --


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, so it's -- first, the undertaking would be J1.6, and it is to, let's call it comment on the Staff chart at page 45 of the Staff compendium.

MS. COBAN:  Thank you, yes.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.6:  TO COMMENT ON THE STAFF CHART AT PAGE 45 OF THE STAFF COMPENDIUM AND TO SHOW UPDATED NUMBERS, IF POSSIBLE


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

Back to the litigation.  You had the discussion with Mr. Rubenstein --


MS. ANDERSON:  Sorry, just --


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MS. ANDERSON:  -- before we move on, I just, I want to be clear on the undertaking.  Are you just commenting on Staff's?  But what if they disagree with Staff's calculation?  Are you asking for them to --


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I understood they think we had the gross numbers perhaps are not right here, and if that's the case --


MS. ANDERSON:  You are asking for them to recalculate those numbers?  Or just...

MR. MILLAR:  Well, frankly, I think all they have to do is multiply by .48 once you have the gross numbers.  I didn't necessarily want to limit them as to how they respond exactly.  If they thought there were other errors we made then I guess we would like to hear it.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  Because I just thought it was just commenting on whether there is errors as opposed to -- but if there are errors what would be the right answer --


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, correct.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.

MS. COBAN:  We will do our best to be helpful in terms of providing a complete answer.  And to the extent that we can show updated numbers we will.  If we can't, we will explain --


MS. ANDERSON:  You will let us know.  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Back to the Carillion insolvency and the litigation surrounding that.  So that is part of an ongoing dispute resolution and claims adjudication process; is that correct?

MR. TRGACHEF:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  I think your microphone may not be on, sir.  Go ahead.

MR. TRGACHEF:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  We got you now, thank you.  And I assume one of the potential outcomes from all of that is Toronto Hydro -- somebody cuts a cheque to Toronto Hydro?  It may or may not happen, but that is one of the potential outcomes?  Like, you will get back some of the money?

MR. TRGACHEF:  Toronto Hydro has submitted a proof of claim that -- in the proceeding seeking payment for outstanding amounts owing to Toronto Hydro --


MR. MILLAR:  Correct.  And if you win you will get some of that money, right?

MR. TRGACHEF:  If I can finish, as part of those claims, there has been asserted by Carillion claims against Toronto Hydro as well.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  But my question is, when all of this -- when all is said and done here, one of the potential outcomes is Toronto Hydro will have more money than they have now.  They will get a cheque from Carillion, or from the insolvency liquidator or whoever.  You may get some money through a settlement of this litigation.  Is that fair?

MS. COBAN:  I think you are asking Mr. Trgachef to speculate on the outcome of the proceeding.

MR. MILLAR:  You have sued Carillion, so you want money, and if you win you will get some money.  Is that fair?  I want to know what happens to that money if you win.

MS. COBAN:  Perhaps it would be helpful if we talk about it as a hypothetical --


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MS. COBAN:  -- so that we are able to put some parameters around it.

MR. MILLAR:  Fair enough.

MS. COBAN:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Imagine you have sued someone and you don't know if you are going to win or lose, but one of the potential outcomes is you get a settlement amount.

[Laughter]

MR. MILLAR:  And it relates to a capital project.  I just want to know, would Toronto Hydro intend to use that money to offset the capital costs that are going into rate base?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. TRGACHEF:  If you can give us a minute, Mr. Millar, I'm just going to consult my colleague here.

MR. MILLAR:  Of course.

[Witness panel confers]

MS. CIPOLLA:  That specific treatment, Mr. Millar, we believe would be better suited for panel 3.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.

Let's move on to -- Mr. Rubenstein covered some of this as well, but your energy storage systems.  I have some particular questions about the customer-specific ones.

In that regard, if we could turn to page 56 of the compendium, please.  You went over some of this, but you will see at the bottom of the page, at Table 19, there is four projects you are working on.  I think the total budget for the test period is about $42.3 million; is that correct?  Because one of them goes into service beforehand or some of the capital was spent before the test period?

MR. TAKI:  Sorry, can you --


MR. MILLAR:  Yeah, the total budget is $64.6 million for those four projects.  You see that at the bottom of Table 19.

MR. TAKI:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And some of that actually has already entered service, I believe, so for the test period it is actually $42.3 million?  That is just subtracting the 2018 and 2019 data?

MR. TAKI:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And you are going to recover the entirety of that through a capital contribution?

MR. TAKI:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So there will be no impact on rates?

MR. TAKI:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And you discuss this -- you are also recovering for a ten-year OM&A period through the capital contribution.  Is that correct?

MR. TAKI:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  That's kind of an interesting way to approach that.  Can you explain why you did it that way?  Is it just for simplicity?  Or why are you recovering forecasted OM&A through a capital contribution?

MR. TAKI:  The economic evaluation, as described in the Distribution System Code, allows for the recovery of OM&A costs.

MR. MILLAR:  No, absolutely.  I understand that.  So it doesn't matter.  Let's keep moving.

So these are -- as I understand it, these are essentially giant batteries that are installed behind the meter; is that correct?

MR. TAKI:  They are batteries and associated control equipment.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, sure.  What is the intended use of these batteries?  First, who controls the battery?  Is it the customer or is it Toronto Hydro?


MR. TAKI:  These energy storage systems would be owned by Toronto Hydro, so Toronto Hydro would have the operational control of these assets.


MR. MILLAR:  Would that be done in conjunction with the customer, or is it done entirely independent of the customer, how the customer would like to use the battery?


MR. TAKI:  It would be done in collaboration with the customer.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So you would get feedback from the customer as to how they would like the battery used, but you actually operate it.


MR. TAKI:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  From the customer's perspective, what is the purpose of the battery?  Is it peak shaving, things like that?


MR. TAKI:  Yes.  These customers are interested in peak shaving activities.


MR. MILLAR:  Is that the primary benefit to these batteries?


MR. TAKI:  For the specific customer?


MR. MILLAR:  For these four.  I mean it is all the same customer for all four of these, but, yes that is why they want these batteries -- to the extent you know.  I know you are not Metrolinx.


MR. TAKI:  Yes.  These customers are interested in energy storage systems, because of their benefits with respect to peak shaving.  But as well as other benefits like backup power and potentially power quality benefits as well.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, no, that's fair enough.  Thank you.


Now, we asked you -- I thought I heard you discuss this with Mr. Rubenstein.  You discussed at least theoretical benefits to the system itself, so benefits for people other than the direct customer here.  Is that right?


MR. TAKI:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  So benefits from these four particular projects, there are benefits to the system?


MR. TAKI:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  What are those benefits?


MR. TAKI:  If you allow me, Mr. Millar, before I answer the question, I want to provide also a clarification to the previous discussion with Mr. Rubenstein.


So we were talking about energy storage assets being behind the meter, or ahead of the meter, and I got caught up in sort of the customer-specific energy storage systems.


So I want to clarify that Toronto Hydro is proposing, with respect to the grid performance and the renewable enabling energy storage systems, that those would be ahead of the meter.  And it is only the case of customer-specific that we would be considering it as behind the meter.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you for that.


MR. TAKI:  Thank you.  So with respect to your question, the benefits to the system when the energy storage is installed behind the meter, for example in these cases customer specific energy storage, is that that battery can still provide functionality such as minimizing outage duration.


So I will elaborate a little bit further, in that if you have an outage in an area where that energy storage system exists, then Toronto Hydro can perform switching to segment that specific part of the feeder and leverage the energy storage to feed that customer, as well as other customers.  So that is one example.


We are also able to execute operational functions such as load management.  So instead of traditionally what we would do if we wanted to shift load or transfer load between feeders, is we would perform switching using the switching equipment along the feeders.  With energy storage, we can potentially minimize that switching and leverage the energy storage to supply load for a certain period of time.


And as well, another example is the enablement of renewables, which we have described also in the evidence, in that energy storage systems that perhaps were not installed for the purpose or mainly for enabling renewables can also be used to enable renewables.


So those are a few of the benefits to the system.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, that is helpful.  Have you quantified any of these benefits or attached any dollar value to them?  I note for example in Staff 88, which is at page 62, we asked about things like deferred investments or that type of thing.


You didn't have numbers for any of those type things.  So are these more theoretical benefits, or have you actually attached any dollar figure to them?


MR. TAKI:  We haven't attached dollar figures yet and there is an interrogatory where we talked about conducting some direct benefits analysis as we are closer to selecting these projects and executing them.


MR. MILLAR:  The fact that you are charging all of this directly to the customer suggests that primarily the benefits of these batteries are for the customer as opposed to the system.  Is that a fair statement?


If this was a distribution project, you would be charging at least some of it to customers?


MR. TAKI:  So there's two questions there.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Sorry.  You are charging all of this to Metrolinx, the people who have the batteries.  That suggests to me you view the benefits primarily to be for Metrolinx and not for the grid itself.  Is that a fair statement?


MR. TAKI:  I wouldn't characterize it as the benefits being primarily to the customer.  I would characterize it as the customer driving the need for that project.


MR. MILLAR:  Well, if they're quantifiable benefits to the grid, wouldn't it make sense to allocate some of those to the grid, to ratepayers generally?


MR. TAKI:  Not necessarily, Mr. Millar.  And I will provide an example to hopefully clarify.


When we talk about a load connection, the assets that we consider to be connection assets associated with that load connection, not expansion assets but connection assets, in some cases those assets provide benefit to the customer as well as to the system.


For example, if you have switch gear.  And even though those assets provide some benefit to the system, we still allocate -- because these are connection assets, we allocate those costs to the customer only.


MR. MILLAR:  Toronto Hydro is the one who ultimately controls the battery?


MR. TAKI:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  And you do that with some input from the customer, from Metrolinx, correct?


If there is a case where there is conflict between the desires of the customer and between Toronto Hydro for some benefits to the grid, who wins?  In other words, if Metrolinx says we want to draw off the battery now or we want to be charging the battery now, whatever, and Toronto Hydro is of the view it would actually be more beneficial to the system to do the opposite, which do you do?


MR. TAKI:  Because these are distribution assets, the priority will be Toronto Hydro's decision.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So there would be times where Metrolinx asks you to do something and you say no.


MR. TAKI:  No, I didn't say that that will be the case.


What I am saying is that the priority, when it comes to operation, will be to the benefit of the system.


MR. MILLAR:  Right.  So if there is a conflict between Metrolinx wanting you to do one thing, but that's not the thing that would most benefit the grid, you would do the thing that benefits the grid?  By the grid, I mean the Toronto Hydro system.


MR. TAKI:  Yes.  Theoretically, if we would run into that case -- with all of these customers, especially with the ones where there is energy storage, there is an operational agreement that is established early on, in fact before the connection is made, through which Toronto Hydro agrees with the customer on the conditions and the terms for operation, so that we don't run into these types of scenarios.


MR. MILLAR:  Are those agreements that can be provided so we can see them?  Are they confidential in any way?


MR. TAKI:  These projects specifically because they're not yet completed, the operational agreements are not yet ready.


MR. MILLAR:  Are there other ones?  These are the only ones in the test period I know, but were there previous ones?


MR. TAKI:  For energy storage?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Like do we have examples of these agreements?  And by "we" I mean you.


MR. TAKI:  For energy storage, I don't believe we have any -- I think it would be something that I would have to double-check.


MR. MILLAR:  Is it true that -- the customer obviously knows they're paying for the whole battery.  Do they know that there will be times where they make requests that you may say no?  They want to do peak shaving, and you say no, this is not the time?


MR. TAKI:  Again, that would be established in the operational agreement.


MR. MILLAR:  Which we don't have.  Which are not finalized?

MR. TAKI:  For these customers.

MR. MILLAR:  Right.  But as I understood, there are none that are finalized.

MR. TAKI:  No, they're not finalized.  However, in the case of the Eglinton Crosstown project, the project has been ongoing, and we are in discussions with the customer developing that operational agreement.  And these discussions, some of the items that you have raised are part of those discussions with the customer.

So we will agree to operating terms and conditions with the customer, such that we will not have these types of conflicts that you have described.

MR. MILLAR:  If one of your competitors built -- Mr. Rubenstein discussed this being a competitive activity, which I think you at least partially agreed.  There are other market providers for this.  If Metrolinx had gone to them, they would be able to control the battery themselves, correct?

MR. TAKI:  Yes, potentially.

MR. MILLAR:  So why would they go to you?  I know I can't ask you to speak for Metrolinx, but I would think if there is two providers of a competitive service and one I control the battery and the other they control the battery, I would take the one that had me control the battery, if my reason for getting it was for peak shaving.

MR. TAKI:  Again, Mr. Millar, like you stated, I can't speak for Metrolinx.

MR. MILLAR:  Have you considered doing this activity through an affiliate, given it is at least semi-competitive nature?

MS. COBAN:  I think we are getting into an area that is not -- goes to the issues that are before this Board to decide in terms of alternate business activities.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So that is a refusal?

MS. COBAN:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Let me -- you are not doing this through an affiliate?  Is that -- I think we can fairly take the answer to that to be no.

MR. TAKI:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Maybe we can move on from there.  Thank you very much.

Madam Chair, when did you want to break today?  Can I do another area, or --


MS. ANDERSON:  The plan was to go to 5:00.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, fine.  That works for me.

Let's continue on to some questions about -- hopefully this is a quick one as well.  If we could turn to page 90 of the compendium.  This again simply -- I am hoping it is just kind of some housekeeping that we have done.

There were some updates to rate base and capital-related revenue requirement that came as part of the response to undertaking U-Staff-168.

However, some of the key figures or at least what Staff considers to be some of the key figures, including the rate base for 2021 to 2024 and the base revenue requirement for 2020 to 2024 were not provided.

And we have just provided a spreadsheet in which we attempted to do those calculations ourself.  And either through undertaking or if you have had the opportunity to review it beforehand, we're hoping you can either confirm we got the numbers right, or if we got them wrong, if you could correct this chart.

[Witness panel confers]

MS. CIPOLLA:  Based on our review, there are some numbers that we would not agree with the accuracy of them.

MR. MILLAR:  Are you able to correct that for me?

MS. CIPOLLA:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  By way of undertaking?

MS. CIPOLLA:  Yes, we are.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you so much.  That will be J1.6.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.7:  TO REVIEW THE SPREADSHEET AND CONFIRM WHETHER THE BOARD GOT THE NUMBERS RIGHT OR WRONG AND CORRECT THIS CHART.

MR. MILLAR:  And in a similar vein, if you skip to page 92, again, these relate to some cap ex and in-service addition, some new information we got in Staff 168.

And we tried to flow those numbers through as best we could to some new numbers for what is funded by revenue requirement and what not.

And again, we were just hoping you could either tell us we got that right or, if we got it wrong, by way of undertaking if you could correct it for us.

MS. CIPOLLA:  We would like to take an undertaking to correct that chart.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you so much.  So that is J1.7.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.8:  TO CORRECT THE STAFF CHART AT RESPECTIVELY PAGE 90 AND 92 OF THE COMPENDIUM.

MR. MILLAR:  And again, that is to correct the Staff chart at page -- respectively, page 90 and 92 of the compendium.

Let's move -- why don't we flip to page 93 of the compendium.  I want to talk with you, the process that you used to add in-service additions into your rate base for a particular year.

And let me start by just -- let me walk you through how I think that you do it and how you propose to do it and you can tell me if I've got it wrong.

Okay.  So what Toronto Hydro does is you add all of the capital in-service additions for a year based on annual information, and then you apply the half-year rule.  So if I were to take an example, let's just say you had $100 million of in-service additions in 2018, you would add $50 million to rate base for 2018.  Is that correct?  You would just take the annual information and divide it in half for the half-year rule?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Yes.  Yes, that's right.

MR. MILLAR:  Now, when you calculate your depreciation expense related to these assets, as I understand it you do it a little bit differently.  And again, tell me if I've got this wrong.  But first you calculate the depreciation on a more granular level.  You do it on a monthly basis.  So if an asset went into service in January, you would collect 12 months of depreciation expense; conversely if it came into service in December you would only collect one month.  And then what you do is you take the annual average of the depreciation expense based on the monthly information.  Is that how you do it?  In other words, depreciation is based on the monthly data as opposed to the annual data.

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  So why do you do it differently for rate base than you do for depreciation even though we're talking about the same assets?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Mr. Millar, we have in one of our undertakings -- I can take you if you would like me to.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  -- defined why we do depreciation calculations on a monthly basis.  So it was because it is consistent with how we do it historically.  In our historicals we calculate depreciation monthly.

MR. MILLAR:  Are you talking about undertaking -- well, let's go to page 98, if you don't mind, of the compendium.  And we may or may not be talking about the same thing, but we did ask you this through the, I think this is a technical-conference reference, but there were some interrogatories around it as well.

And if I look at the bottom of page 98, it says:

"Toronto Hydro uses the same approach to forecast depreciation and believes that being aligned with the historical practice provides a more accurate forecast of depreciation expense than the half-year rule."

Is that why you do it for depreciation?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Yes, that's correct.  That's the undertaking.

MR. MILLAR:  But wouldn't that also be true for your rate base amounts?  Like, wouldn't it be more accurate to use the monthly data?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Rate base is not a calculation that would be done on a monthly basis.  It is an annual calculation that we do, and it is, as we have stated in the response, based on prescribed methodologies, which is using the annual approach.

MR. MILLAR:  Sure.  But you could do it on a monthly basis, right?  If we're talking about the same assets and you have all of that data...

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Yes.  We could.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And you do do it for depreciation, because you think it is more accurate.  Correct?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Yes.  For depreciation, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  We asked you -- I don't know -- I guess we can go to page 104, but we discussed the timing of -- generally of your in-service additions.

And is it fair to say that your capital in-service additions are weighted more towards the end of any given year?  In other words, they're often in the fall or November or December, and that is due to your typical construction cycle?  You are more likely to add assets at the end of the year as opposed to the beginning of the year?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Historically we have seen that that has been -- for distribution capital projects.

MR. MILLAR:  Is there any reason to think that that wouldn't continue in the future?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  For the distribution capital projects, no.

MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, say again?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  For the distribution capital projects which follow that pattern, no, there is no reason we expect --


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Sorry, I got caught up in a double negative, I think.

Okay.  So if we turn to page 105, this was a -- we had actually already calculated what the difference would be if you did it on a monthly basis as opposed to on an annual basis, which is your current practice.

Without asking you to accept that you should be doing it on a monthly basis, we did these calculations.

As it happens, some of this data has been updated on account of the infamous U-Staff-168, which we have talked about a few times.  We are just hoping you could update this chart to reflect that data for us.

Are you prepared to take an undertaking to do that?  Again, it is just to update this chart based on the new information in U-Staff-168.

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Yes, we can.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you very much.  That is J1.8.

MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Millar, can we just clarify because we seem to have two 1.6s and maybe ... I had one from page 45 and then one on page 90, and another on 92.  Were two of those combined?

MR. MILLAR:  Yeah, I think -- Mr. Gluck and I have just made a minor error.  I had marked the page 90 and 92 separately and I think when he had written it down, he marked it as one.  I think you're probably right.  We're actually at 1.9.

MS. ANDERSON:  1.9?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  I apologize for that.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.9:  TO UPDATE THE CHART AT PAGE 105 OF EXHIBIT K1.2 TO REFLECT THE DATA IN U-STAFF-168


MR. MILLAR:  All right.  I will try to get one final area in before the break, Madam Chair.

I want to talk about your methodology.  It sounds related, but it is actually a separate issue, your methodology for calculating in-service additions.

So what I want to focus on is how you convert your cap ex and your CWIP balances into actual in-service additions that enter rate base.

So first, just so I understand how you do this, I understand for large and discrete projects, you would simply use actual data, right?  You would use the month that it enters service?  When Copeland comes into service, you just use the actual data from that, is that correct?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Mr. Millar, just to clarify.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Are we talking about historical actuals, or the forecast?

MR. MILLAR:  I guess we're talking about the whole thing, aren't we?  Well, the focus is on the forecast, yes, how you are going to be doing it for the test period.

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Yes, for large discrete projects, we would use our best estimate of in-service date.

MR. MILLAR:  That makes perfect sense.  But of course you have thousands or tens of thousands of much smaller individual assets where it is simply not realistic to do it on that basis, correct?

Poles, a single pole.  You don't forecast the month a particular pole is going to come into service.

You do it as he at a much broader level for smaller assets, is that fair?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  My questions are just around how you do that.  So maybe we can turn to page 108.  I don't think we need to get too much in the details because they will confuse me anyways.  But my understanding is that what you do for these smaller assets is that you have a historical aggregate conversion ratio that you use and apply it to your cap ex to determine how much is actually going to enter rate base in a given year.

So there is two ratios, one is for cap ex and one is for CWIP, is that correct?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And I appreciate that all sort of work probably went into calculating how those work and I would prefer to stay higher than that, because I think we will get bogged down.  But that's the point; you have a formula that spits out a number and tells you what percentage of cap ex will enter rate base as in-service additions and what percentage of CWIP will enter in-service additions?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  If we turn to, I guess, page 112, let's start with cap ex.  For cap ex, the conversion factor you use is 57 percent, is that correct?  And you can see that along B there.

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And you use that for all classes of asset, is that correct, other than the large discrete projects?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Just to add a little bit more clarity there, that percentage is applied to all distribution capital projects, just like on what fits large projects.  Even items like, let's say, IT-related capital expenditures, we wouldn't apply this assumption on that, just to be clear on that.

MR. MILLAR:  You would use actuals for that?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  So for the forecast we would use more detail.

MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, not actuals.  Forecast?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, understood.  But for the other stuff, 57 percent is the conversion ratio that you use?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  If we look at CWIP, again you can see a little further down the page the conversion factor is 64 percent, is that correct?  That's for the 2020-24 period?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Yes, for the distribution capital.

MR. MILLAR:  On the same terms that we discussed for CWIP?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, great.  Thanks.  And again, other than these projects that you have excluded from this, you use the same conversion factor for all of your programs, right?

I mean, you would use 57 percent for all of the cap ex and 64 percent for all of the CWIP.  It is not otherwise broken out on a program-type basis?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  That's right.  For the subset cap ex is 57, CWIP 64.

MR. MILLAR:  And that is across the board?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  The 57 percent and the 64 percent, would those be the same numbers you used in the previous application, the one that was filed in 2015?  You may not know that off the top of your head.

First, do you know that?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  They would not be, just because we have used assumptions, like the calculation of the 57 and the 64 were based on different historical years.

So of course now we have used more recent information.

MR. MILLAR:  Are you able to provide, by way of undertaking, what the numbers were in the last application, both for CWIP and for cap ex?  Like, what were the comparable numbers in the last cost of service rate case?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Yes, we can do that.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you, that is J1.10.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.10:  TO PROVIDE CWIP NUMBERS AND CAP EX IN THE PREVIOUS COST OF SERVICE RATE CASE


MR. MILLAR:  Maybe we can turn to page 114.  I appreciate these are complex issues and I know that there's a lot of inputs into the formula, which is probably why you are going to be discussing this at a level above my head.

But Staff approached this from a slightly simpler perspective, perhaps based on our lack of understanding.

But I want to walk through some numbers and you can tell me what you think about them.

We prepared a spreadsheet that you see at page 114.  What we did was we looked at the actual conversions of historical cap ex and of CWIP into in-service additions for the year 2015-2018.  These numbers are taken from the evidence.

And so we added up the opening CWIP balances and the capital expenditure amounts and divided that amount by the in-service additions by year for 2015-2018.  So this includes both CWIP and cap ex.

What we found, based on our calculations, was for 2015-2018, the combined conversion ratio of both opening CWIP and cap ex was about 51 percent for the 2015-2018 period. And we observed that that is lower than both the 57 and the 64 that you are using for cap ex and CWIP.

Why would we have -- I understand we have different numbers because you used the formula, but why is the formula producing numbers higher than what we saw as the historic actuals average?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Mr. Millar, the table on page 114 is taking into account all the capital projects.  So this is more than just a subset of the projects that the 57 percent and 64 percent was applied.

So if a large capital project is -- they are actually part of these numbers.  They're going to skew that percentage.  So it wouldn't be exactly comparable, I would say.

MR. MILLAR:  That's a fair comment.  Okay.

So those large projects -- well, if we look at for example 2020, there is actually -- the numbers are fairly stable between 2016 and 2019.

There is a big jump in 2020, all the way up to 60 percent.

Would we be talking there - is that perhaps because of one or two very large projects that come in that year?  Why would you expect we have the big jump that year?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Mr. Millar, I don't have the specifics in front of me.  But there are discrete projects that we have identified are carrying over to 2020, that we -- that are near completion at the end of 2019, but we expect to be ISA'd in 2020,which is part of that increase.

MR. MILLAR:  Right.  That's what -- I mean, when we looked at this we thought, well, that must be what is happening.  They must have a big project that has a bunch of CWIP or old cap ex associated with it and it is closing that year, so -- and you can imagine that the numbers would jump around a little bit from year to year, so that's probably what's -- again, without tying you to specifics of a project, that is in all likelihood what we're seeing here?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Yes.  There are projects carrying over.

MR. MILLAR:  If Staff were to suggest to you it would be a better method to simply use historical averages like this to calculate your cap ex and your CWIP additions into in-service additions, why is your formula-based approach with the actuals-based approach a better way to do this?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  To clarify, Mr. Millar, so you are suggesting that we use this average, let's say the '15 to '18 averages, 51.36 percent.

MR. MILLAR:  Pick whatever years you like, but, yes, some average of the actuals.

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  I would say that would not be a better approach, reason being that this does not take into account all of the major projects, which have very specific in-service dates, versus just using a historical percentage assumption --


MR. MILLAR:  Those -- sorry, go ahead.

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Like, for a project like Copeland, you cannot use the historical assumption for in-service additions.  That would not yield accurate results.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, fair enough.  But Copeland -- Copeland and other large projects will over time be in these averages; is that fair?  Like, they're in here.

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  They are, but it wouldn't be fair to assume that it would always be similar large projects that would be part of the capital program.  That would be too general an assumption to use, and I do not believe that would give accurate results.

MR. MILLAR:  Just in the interests of time, let me -- just a couple of final questions on this.

Maybe we can turn to page 118.  You will recall I have asked you some questions about, this was done at an aggregate level and not at a program level, and we asked you to try to break it down at a program level.  And you told us that there were all sort of limitations to your ability to do that, but helpfully, you gave it your best shot, and that is what we see at page 118.  Is that correct?

MR. MUNDENCHIRA:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So if when the next rate case is filed in 2023 -- I have an idea what your answer to this will be, but would it be reasonable for the Board to use this as a guide as to whether or not the in-service additions you thought would happen on a program level actually happened?

MS. CIPOLLA:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  And I expect you will repeat the limitations that you already cited when you answered this question for us?

MS. CIPOLLA:  Yes.  And I would add to them that the capital plan itself would need to have flexibility to be operated within a five-year capital window, and so for the same reasons of our previous application and the ability to operate our capital program, given limitations or considerations around the city and the jurisdiction, the environment we operate in, weather, third parties, we need the ability to be able to manoeuvre the capital program accordingly, and so we would note that it would not be appropriate to operate in this exact form.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So I understand what you are saying, that there are some, not just limitations, but some reasons maybe you wouldn't want to do it.  But would you also accept that there might be some benefits to doing it that way as well?  At a program level there might well be differences in the conversion factors, based on the type of program you're doing.  Would that be a fair statement?  Again, I am not asking you to agree that it is a good idea, but just that you would get more accurate information at least for some of these items if you did it at a program level.

MS. CIPOLLA:  I would agree for specific projects it is appropriate.  But to be doing it based on the specific allocation by program, and given what we have described in this undertaking around the limitations, we would not agree with that approach.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.

Again, looking forward to 2023 -- I know you did this -- your best stab at this to help us out, and we appreciate that.  If you were to do this with the benefit of more time, would this -- like, could you do a better job of this that would rectify some of those limitations if you actually weren't doing it in response to an undertaking, but it was something you were doing on a more planned basis?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. CIPOLLA:  Like I previously stated, we don't believe that it is practical to do, and so time won't provide a better accuracy around these, given the limitations as we have discussed in the undertaking.

Specifically around the information, there is hundreds of -- there's tens of thousands of projects that incorporate within this.  So we don't believe that it would be something that more time would provide better information in this form.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  One just final question.  Sorry, if we go back to page 114, I forgot to ask something about this.  This is the chart that we were just discussing.  And you will see it at the top of the page.

We did this based on the information we had.  Is it possible to get this chart extended to include the years 2013 through 2024?  So in other words, to add 2013 and '14 and then 2021 to '24?  Is that something you could undertake to do?

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, you want the history previous to 2015?  Is that what you are asking for --


MR. MILLAR:  Correct.

MR. KEIZER:  -- outside of this planning period?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Because we're looking at averages.  So that is -- that is the whole point of this, is to get averages over time.  So that is the request.

MR. KEIZER:  I am not sure whether you're going to get apples and oranges compared to the 2015, you know, distribution system plan relative to what was done previous to 2015.

MR. MILLAR:  We are asking what percentage of your cap ex and CWIP actually close to rate base in any given year.  We already have a bunch of the information.  I...

MS. CIPOLLA:  The only clarification I would make on to 2013 and '14 is we were not under IFRS, and so there was different accounting treatment at that time.  So it may not be comparable.  And so we would think a better comparability would be 2015 and thereafter.

MR. MILLAR:  The numbers you have for 2015, aren't those based on the old accounting standards, yours in 2013 and 2014?

MS. CIPOLLA:  Under -- in 2013 and '14 we were under U.S. GAAP.  And then we adopted IFRS in 2015, with comparators back.  And so that speaks to that.

And the one thing I would also add is that the 2013 and '14 period we were under an IRM and not a CIR.  And so that would be another differentiating factor.

MR. MILLAR:  Yeah, I misspoke, actually.  It was the 47 -- pardon me, the 57 percent and the 64 percent I think were based on 2013, 2014, which is -- again, we're at the end of the day.  I don't want to argue about this.

Are you willing to provide the data with the caveats that we have discussed?

MS. CIPOLLA:  Yes, we can undertake to do that.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I appreciate that.  Thank you.  So that is J1.11.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.11:  TO PROVIDE THE CHART DATA WITH THE CAVEATS AS DISCUSSED.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you for your indulgence, Madam Chair.  I am not done the cross, but we have got a good chunk of it finished, and we will be raring to go tomorrow morning.

MS. ANDERSON:  Good.  Tomorrow morning at 9:30 a.m.  We will see you then.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 5:04 p.m.
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